



# **Sunderland Domestic Violence**

# **Health Needs Assessment**

Original report by Glen Wilson, Specialty Registrar in Public Health, June 2013

Updated by Sheila Rundle and Janet Collins, Public Health Analysts, and Julie Smith, Associate Policy Lead for Community Safety, Nov 2017

Version 7

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Health and domestic violence and abuse (DVA) are inextricably linked. DVA has a profound and long-term impact on physical and mental health, with effects ranging from injury to stress and anxiety, as well as more severe psychological effects. It is also a root cause of many other social problems including substance misuse, homelessness, sexual exploitation and future involvement in criminal behaviour. It is estimated that domestic violence and its impacts costs over £80million per year in Sunderland; comparable to other public health priorities such as smoking and obesity. Evidence shows that prevention and cessation of domestic violence are more cost-effective than dealing with consequences of long-term domestic violence.

Around 6,000 DVA incidents in Sunderland are reported to the Police each year. However DVA is known to be under-reported (by around 50%). It is estimated that there are:

- 12,800 DVA incidents per year in Sunderland
- 10,000 victims aged 16-59 who experienced DVA in the last year
- over 32,000 people aged 16-59 in the city who are currently affected by DVA or have been affected by DVA in the past.

The 2015/16 Crime Survey for England and Wales reported that almost twice as many women (8.1%) as men (4.3%) had experienced "any domestic abuse" in the last year. Reported prevalence has fallen for both sexes compared to baseline in 2004/05, though it appears that reported prevalence rates among males has begun to increase in recent years. Taking a broader definition of "any domestic abuse" which includes stalking, almost 27.1% of women reported some lifetime experience of DV, compared to 13.2% of men. Women who were separated had the highest prevalence of any domestic abuse in the last year (19.8%) compared with other marital status groups (such as married/civil partnered 3.6%) or cohabiting (6.6%). 30% of those reporting DV were repeat victims, and this group accounted for 58% of all DV incidents.

DVA is a citywide issue, but there is a strong correlation between reported incidence and deprivation. The distribution of reported DA incidents (2016/17) across the city was inequitable, ranging from a peak of 52.24 per 1000 population in Hendon ward to a low of 8.9 per 1,000 population in Fulwell ward. The data show a marked inequality in the number of DA crimes experienced by ward, but it is important to note that it may be the result, entirely or partly, of working with small numbers.

Exposure to domestic violence can have significant negative impacts on the health and wellbeing of children, as well as on educational attainment and future risk taking behaviour. Limited information was available for on children's services in Sunderland. Police data from 2016/17 shows that 41% of police reported DA incidents in Sunderland involved children. Domestic violence was identified as a factor in 547 (26%) of referrals to Children's Social care.

In 2016-17 there were 3,869 victims (6382 incidents) and of these there were 340 victims aged 55+ which is only 8.8% of all victims (Northumbria Police, 2017). However, Sunderland's female populations aged +55 years is 47,778 (mid-2016 estimates) and given that 1 in 4 women are expected to experience domestic abuse at some point in their lives, those reporting abuse to the police are still a very small minority. However, the level of reporting by those aged 55+ has slowly increased since 2015 and in the first 6 months of 2017-18, there were 224 victims aged over 55 years who reported their abuse to the Police (a +22.4% rise). This means that the proportion of all victims aged 55 or over is at its highest levels in Sunderland and still likely to be as a result of the local awareness raising that continues to be done around abuse in older relationships. The proportion of 16-17 year old victims reporting still remains low at 2.1% (52 victims April-Sept 2017). In 2016-17 there was a drop in the number of BME victims reporting to the Police in Sunderland (-24% or 26 fewer victims) which had taken the proportion of victims who are BME from 2.9% down to 2.2%. The April-Sept 2017-18 figures have shown a continued fall (-10% or 5 fewer victims) and the proportion of BME victims is now only 1.8%.

Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) meet fortnightly to consider those victims who are at highest risk of serious harm or death. Sunderland MARAC data from SafeLives for 12 months to 30 June 2017 show that there have been 605 victims referred to MARAC (with 1044 children) and many of these victims have additional vulnerabilities such as alcohol misuse, drug misuse, mental ill health, learning disabilities, physical disabilities etc. 38% of domestic abuse crimes involved alcohol according to 2016/17 MARAC data. MARAC data for the year to 30 June 2017 shows that 1.3% of victims in MARAC cases have a registered disability. Other minority groups, including those from ethnic minorities and lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender communities did report experiencing domestic violence but to a lesser extent than expected, indicating potential inequality in awareness of or access to support. Ethnicity was not independently associated with risk of DV, however some specific forms of DV, such as forced marriage, so-called 'honour' based violence and female genital mutilation, are disproportionately distributed by race or religion/belief.

Those with complex needs generally have longer term support needs and some may not necessarily be high risk, but have high levels of complexity and a high demand on public services. Multiple complexities often create multiple sites of disadvantage. Multiple markers of difference, such as age, class, gender, ethnicity and sexual orientation, intersect to inform lived experiences which means that some women's experiences of violence against women and girls is not only gendered, but can also be connected to factors such as ethnicity, age, class, disability, sexuality or complex needs.

The Independent Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA) service supports those victims who are assessed as being at high risk of serious harm or death, and also those in the specialist domestic violence courts. However the IDVA service has significant capacity issues. It is recommended there should be around 470 high risk victims for a population size of Sunderland with 5 IDVAs supporting these victims. Currently there are 605 high risk victims referred to MARAC in the 12 months to June 2017 and based on the actual volume of high risk cases Sunderland should have 6.5 IDVAs but only currently has 4 x FTE IDVAs (3 of which are part of the commissioned specialist domestic abuse provision which includes the manager and the hospital IDVA).

There is currently a cross partnership DVA proposal around the formation of a crosspartnership time limited project group focused on understanding the prevalence and impact of domestic abuse on children, adults and their families, the strategies and plans in place to reduce the level and impact, identify areas/services for improvement and improve outcomes for those affected.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
ABBREVIATIONS	6
INTRODUCTION	7
	8 9
NATIONAL CONTEXT	10
SUNDERLAND PROFILE	15
EPIDEMIOLOGICAL NEED	22
	22 25
PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS AND RISK FACTORS	38
EVIDENCE REVIEW	48
Financial costs of domestic violence	48 50 52
RECOMMENDATIONS	56
APPENDICES	
Appendix 1: Table of findings from Rapid Literature Review on DV	57
REFERENCES	60

# ABBREVIATIONS

ACPO	Association of Chief Police Officers
BCS	British Crime Survey
BMA	British Medical Association
BME	Black and minority ethnic
CAADA	Co-ordinated Action Against Domestic Abuse (now called SafeLives)
CAMHS	Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
CCG	Clinical Commissioning Group
CHS	City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
CPS	Crown Prosecution Service
CSEW	Crime Survey for England and Wales
CSP	Community Safety Partnership
DA	Domestic abuse
DVA	Domestic violence and abuse
FGM	Female genital mutilation
FMU	Forced marriage unit
HBV	'Honour' based violence
HNA	Health needs assessment
HWB	Health and Wellbeing Board
IAPT	Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
IDVA	Independent domestic violence adviser
IMD	Index of multiple deprivation
JHWS	Joint health and wellbeing strategy
JSNA	Joint strategic needs assessment
LA	Local Authority
LGBT	Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender
LMAPS	Local multi-agency problem solving group
LSOA	Lower super output area
LSP	Local strategic partnership
MARAC	Multi-agency risk assessment conference
NI	National indicator
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
PCC	Police and Crime Commissioner
PCT	Primary Care Trust
SDVC	Specialist Domestic Violence Court
SDVP	Sunderland Domestic Violence Partnership
SSAB	Sunderland Safeguarding Adults Board
SSCB	Sunderland Safeguarding Children Board
SSP	Safer Sunderland Partnership
STFT	South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
VAWG	Violence against women and girls
WWIN	Wearside Women in Need

# INTRODUCTION

This DV updated health needs assessment (HNA) aims to:

- Update the previous HNA from 2013, focusing on epidemiological needs and protected characteristics
- Identify the scale of DVA in Sunderland, including profiling characteristics of victims
- Review the evidence base for service provision models
- Identify gaps in data and areas for further work/research
- Underpin a review of current service provision

## Definition

In 2012, the Government announced changes to the definition of DVA, amending it to include coercive control, and extending it to include those aged 16 to 18. (Home Office, 2012a) The new definition implemented in March 2013 is titled 'domestic violence and abuse':

'Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or have been intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality. This can encompass, but is not limited to, the following types of abuse: psychological, physical, sexual, financial, emotional.

Controlling behaviour is: a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.

Coercive behaviour is: an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim.'

\* This definition, which is not a legal definition, includes so called 'honour' based violence, female genital mutilation (FGM) and forced marriage, and is clear that victims are not confined to one gender or ethnic group.

# Scope

HNA is a systematic method of identifying the unmet health and health care needs of a population. Ultimately, HNA facilitates targeting of resources to improve services to better meet need and therefore improve health and reduce health inequalities.

This report covers epidemiological need, focusing on protected characteristics and markers, and puts forward current evidence of what works in DVA.

This HNA focuses on updated health needs information and an updated review of current policy since the previous HNA in 2013.

Although physical abuse of children may co-exist with DVA, it was beyond the scope of this needs assessment to explore the issue of child abuse resulting from violence directed towards or resulting in physical harm to the child. However, consideration of the impact that witnessing DVA can have on a child's emotional wellbeing, behaviour and development, and on the victim's parenting capacity and ability to care for the child's needs, was of direct relevance and was addressed in the HNA. The health needs of perpetrators of DV are beyond the scope of the HNA.

This HNA was carried out as a desktop review using data available nationally and locally.

A review of current service provision and gaps has been undertaken outwith this paper. This HNA will underpin that review.

#### **National context**

In 2014, the Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer focused on Women's Health, and recommended that CCGs and local authorities ensure initiatives are in place to meet referrals safely for sexual violence, other domestic violence, female genital mutilation, 'honour'-based violence, forced marriages and modern slavery. (Davies, 2014)

In February 2016, NICE introduced a quality standard on domestic violence and abuse. (NICE, 2016) It found that multi-agency partnership working at both an operational and strategic level is the most effective approach. It emphasised the importance of training and ongoing support for individual practitioners to enable them to effectively and safely respond after disclosure.

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) has published the Domestic Abuse in England and Wales: year ending March 2016. This report brings together national and local domestic abuse data from The Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW), Home Office incident and police recorded crime data, Home Office Homicide Index data and Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) data including; referrals, prosecutions and conviction. (ONS, 2016e)

An updated Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) strategy for 2016-20, *Ending Violence against Women and Girls* was published in March 2016, highlighting the government's commitment to ending DVA (Home Office 2016a). The overall outcomes by 2020 are a reduction in the prevalence of all forms of VAWG, matched by increased reporting, police referrals, prosecutions and convictions. The approach centres around prevention, provision of services, partnership working and pursuing perpetrators. Over the next 4 years it says government will support a transformation in service delivery and a step change in social action to achieve a sustainable long term reduction.

The strategy reflects on work done to improve police, criminal justice and health responses to VAWG (e.g. via HMIC inspections) and how it has strengthened the legislative framework through: the new offence of coercive and controlling behaviour; Clare's Law; FGM mandatory reporting; and new protection orders for domestic violence, sexual violence, forced marriage and FGM. It recognises the need to do more to stop people offending (less than 1% of perpetrators receive a specialist intervention), break the cycle of abuse and provide ways out of difficult circumstances that achieve sustainable and lasting change.

This national strategy states that government has devolved responsibility for local service provision to local areas. The ambition is to reform services to support earlier models of intervention with victims, perpetrators and their families, at the same time as maintaining crisis provision.

The national statement of expectations (NSE) explains the actions local areas should take to ensure victims of violence against women and girls (VAWG) get the help they need. Men and boys can also be victims of violence and abuse and the approaches set out in this national statement aim to benefit all victims of these crimes.

The NSE sits within the framework of the national VAWG strategy and comes with a support offer from government to help local commissioners fulfil the NSEs and the national offer includes a commissioning 'toolkit' which underpins the NSE and should help in developing business cases for funding a whole system approach to all VAWG services (Home Office, 2016b), with associated government funding for "Priorities for Domestic Abuse Services." (DCLG, 2016)

The NSEs are 5 key statements, each with examples of what government expects local areas to have in place: (summary taken from Julie Smith, Briefing Note: Violence Against Women and Girls – National Statement of Expectations (NSE), Home Office 2016)

- 1. Put the victim at the centre of service delivery: e.g. commissioners should:
  - have a robust consultation process to identify services to meet local need
  - have a forum to ensure victims and service providers can share views and experiences.
  - see victims as part of a wider network (in the context of whole family and wider safeguarding).
  - have sufficient local specialist support provision, including provision designed specifically to support victims from marginalised groups (e.g. outreach, drop-in support, resettlement, counselling, advocacy, group work, IDVAs, ISVAs, refuge accommodation and specialist, dedicated BME-led women's services).
  - have consideration of complex needs and multiple disadvantage and the services in place to manage these. Commissioners should consider how services that victims come into contact with detect and respond to women's experiences of VAWG and trauma

- assess and build in access to mental health service provision for victims of all types of VAWG and effectively linking up services
- consider specialist advocates or support workers (e.g. IRIS programme) in local emergency or primary healthcare and GP surgeries, and whether local health professionals generally are trained to spot signs of abuse, understand the impact of trauma and make referrals to specialist VAWG services.
- collaborate and have protocols with other areas to allow victims easy movement from one area to another (cross boundary working).
- 2. Have a clear focus on perpetrators in order to keep victims safe; e.g. commissioners should:
- take a sufficiently proactive and robust approach to perpetrators around both the risk posed and effective interventions to change their behaviour.
- have a clear plan to ensure that perpetrators are brought to justice and that community interventions are not an alternative to justice.
- have work underway to increase knowledge and understanding of perpetrator behaviour
- have a robust consultation process to identify services to meet local need and a forum to ensure victims and service providers views and experiences help shape services for perpetrators.
- understand the family and community context that perpetrators operate within, and wider safeguarding issues
- assess and address local specialist provision, including access to a broad diversity of provision (e.g. DVPPs, screening / routine identification in health settings; specialist workers within Children's Services teams; enhanced police / CJS responses)
- In particular, commissioners may wish to consider:
  - Perpetrators with complex needs and how services and systems detect, respond and manage the risk they pose
  - having specialist workers in local emergency or primary healthcare and GP surgeries.
  - ensuring local health professionals generally are trained to spot signs of abuse and understand the impact of trauma, and know how to recognise it, respond and refer perpetrators to appropriate services.
  - having specialist workers in children's services teams who can work with diverse groups of perpetrators who pose a risk to children and their mothers.

- 3. Take a strategic, system-wide approach to commissioning acknowledging the gendered nature of VAWG; e.g. commissioners should:
  - understand need and provision, accessing available data, evidence, service standards and intelligence from local specialist providers and partners
  - map local issues from crime and health data e.g. develop early intervention plans to prevent escalation to 'crisis' point.
  - consider having trained professionals in hospitals and other healthcare settings to identify and support victims and signpost them to services.
  - understand local crime and other non-criminal justice data about the prevalence of VAWG crimes in the area, and national research on the likely prevalence of VAWG
  - have a robust and useful local VAWG data set
  - have a concise local strategy setting out how the impact of local commissioning will be measured, expectations from services, who is accountable locally and how success will be measured.
  - have a process for measuring victims' satisfaction
  - collaborate across local authority and service boundaries, i.e. some services may be commissioned in partnership or on a regional level.
- 4. Are locally-led and safeguard individuals at every point; e.g. commissioners should:
  - identify a local champion or critical friend to drive and challenge on VAWG issues
  - consider pooling local budgets and funding sources and working with local providers to support a commissioning process that encourages consortia bids without losing smaller local specialist providers.
  - assess new multi-agency approaches, including ways of streamlining structures and meetings whilst improving joined up case management.
  - identify practical steps to ensure learning from DHRs, SCRs, HMIC reports etc..
  - link HMIC and other inspectorate reports on police response and local force action plans into local area strategies, working in partnership with the PCC.
  - make constructive links with troubled families co-ordinators and local DSV coordinators to build local networks and capacity.
  - consider how training provided to local professionals is evaluated, and how to ensure it is making a difference, increasing learning and builds in the voice of victims.
  - identify any VAWG initiatives being delivered by the local police force and whether other VAWG initiatives are being delivered locally by the specialist third sector. Consider if they can support local initiatives and if there is learning to be shared.

- 5. Raise local awareness of the issues and involve, engage and empower communities to seek, design and deliver solutions to prevent VAWG e.g. commissioners should:
  - identify what is happening in local schools.
  - Identify whether the right local connections are in place so that schools know where to ask for specialist advice, including referral pathways to specialist children's domestic or sexual violence services.
  - map out local women's support groups, including those led by BME women
  - Identify and promote wider touch points in your community, including;
    - what local banks are doing to identify and support victims of coercive control
    - how local disabled people and people with learning disabilities are able to disclose safely to professionals
    - ensuring local health and housing professionals are trained to spot, ask take the appropriate action.
    - o local initiatives like 'Ask Me' to develop safe spaces to disclose abuse
    - o housing and homelessness policies that include sexual violence.
    - o whether local businesses have policies on VAWG
    - o sexual violence bystander programmes to raise awareness and reporting.

## **Sunderland Profile**

For the purposes of this part of the HNA, 2011 Census estimates are used, as they contain the most recent data on BME groups. Sunderland has a population size of 275,500 with a slightly higher proportion female than male, reflecting the gender distribution observed nationally. (Office for National Statistics, 2012d) Figure illustrates the population structure for Sunderland, compared to England and Wales, based on 2011 Census estimates.





Source: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/interactive/vp2-2011-census-comparator/index.html

Sunderland has a lower proportion of both males and females in the range 25 to 40 years and a higher proportion in the range 50 to 65 years, which is similar to that in the 2015 midyear population estimates.

The 2011 Census showed that 94.8% of the Sunderland population were white British. A total of 11,224 (4.1%) were from BME groups (excluding white non-British) and the remaining 3,073 (1.1%) were white non-British. (Office for National Statistics, 2012e) The BME population in the majority of wards was between 1% and 5.5%, though there were a small number of wards with substantially higher proportions of the population from BME groups. The highest rate was in Millfield, where almost a quarter (23%) of the population in each ward that was from BME groups.

Figure 2 Proportion of population by ward from BME groups



Sunderland is an area with high levels of deprivation; 38% of the population live in the most disadvantaged 20% of areas in the country. This measure of deprivation is based on a range of domains; the population of Sunderland is most disadvantaged in the employment and health domains, where 48% and 64% of the population respectively live within the 20% most disadvantaged areas in the country. (IMD 2015). Figure 3 illustrates the variation in levels of socioeconomic disadvantage across the city.



Life expectancy across Sunderland as a whole is 2 years lower than the England average. Figure 4 shows the changes in life expectancy for males (in blue) and females (in red) over the last two decades. (Sunderland City Council, 2016)



Figure 4 Trends in Life Expectancy at Birth 1991-1993 to 2013-2015, Sunderland compared to England, by sex

Source: Life expectancy at birth and at age 65, England and Wales, 1991-93 to 2013-15, Office for National Statistics

Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average. Life expectancy is 9.9 years lower for men and 7.6 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Sunderland than in the least deprived areas (Public Health England, 2016).

Over a quarter of children under 16 years old in Sunderland (26%; 12,615 children) live in low income families that are either claiming workless benefits or receiving tax credits and have a household income which is less than 60% of the national median income (source: *2017 Child Health Profile for Sunderland, Public Health England*). This is higher than the average child poverty level of 20.1% across England as a whole. Again, there is marked inequality within Sunderland, with detailed analysis in 2012 showing some wards having rates below 5%, while in other wards child poverty rates are more than 60%. (Sunderland City Council & Sunderland PCT, 2012b) Figure 5 illustrates the variation in child poverty

rates across the city, with the highest rates largely mirroring rates of socioeconomic disadvantage shown in Figure 3.



#### Figure 5 Variation in child poverty rates across the city

Figure 6 shows that rates of violent crime in Sunderland have risen significantly since 2013/14. This pattern has also been seen in the North-East and England. This increase over the last 2 years is primarily as a result of a combination of increased confidence of victims to report incidents to the police and improved compliance with the National Crime Recording Standard (NCRS) and similar increases have been seen in most police forces. It is unclear when the impact of the NCRS will level-off and a truer baseline established.

#### Figure 6 Violent Crime rate



The Public Health Profiles for Sunderland state that the percentage of adults binge drinking on their heaviest drinking day in Sunderland (22.4%) are estimated to be significantly higher than England as a whole (16.5%) in the period 2011-2014. (Public Health England 2017) Around 35% of males aged 18 to 44 who took part in the Sunderland Adult Lifestyle Survey in 2017, said they were drinking more than 6 units on their heaviest drinking day, which is classed as binge drinking by the World Health Organisation.

The prevalence of depression and anxiety in 2016/17 was the highest in the region (17.8% of respondents aged 18 and over in Sunderland compared with 16.5% for Cumbria and the North East, and 13.7% nationally). (GP Patient Survey, NHS England, cited on Public Health England 2017) Figure 7 shows the mental wellbeing scores by electoral ward.

Figure 7 Mental wellbeing scores by electoral ward



53.2 to <54.3 (above average) Reproduced by the permission of Ordnance Survey PSMA Membership 2011. All rights reserved. Licence no. 100050859

# **Epidemiological Need**

All of the statistics quoted in this needs assessment should be interpreted with caution since, due to the nature of DVA, a significant proportion of cases are likely to go unreported and therefore will not be included in statistical estimates.

#### National data

The ONS has published the *Domestic Abuse in England and Wales* report for the year ending March 2016 (ONS, 2016e) with the following key findings:

- There were an estimated 2.0 million adults aged 16 to 59 who said they were a victim of domestic abuse in the last year, according to the year ending March 2016 CSEW. Women were more likely to report having experienced domestic abuse than men.
- A large number of domestic abuse-related incidents were recorded by the police (1.03 million) in the year ending March 2016. Following investigations, the police concluded that a domestic abuse-related criminal offence was committed in approximately 4 in every 10 (41%) of these incidents (421,000).
- Domestic abuse-related crimes recorded by the police accounted for approximately 1 in 10 of all crimes. The majority of domestic abuse (78%) consisted of violence against the person offences. A decision to charge was made for 70% of domestic abuse-related cases referred to the CPS by the police. Convictions were secured for three-quarters of domestic abuse-related prosecutions. In 68% of the domestic abuse cases referred to CPS the defendant pleaded guilty, so most of the cases recorded as successful outcomes were due to guilty pleas (91%). Over half of unsuccessful prosecutions (53%) were due to either victim retraction, victim non-attendance or evidence that the victim did not support the case. Victims may not want to be involved in the prosecution for a number of reasons, for example due to the level of fear and control exerted by the perpetrator. In 22% of unsuccessful prosecutions the defendant was acquitted by a jury or magistrates after a trial.

Data on the prevalence of DV in England and Wales is also produced by the Office for National Statistics, based on the CSEW, formerly the British Crime Survey (BCS). In 2015/16, approximately 50,000 households were invited to participate in the survey and around 75% of invited households historically have chosen to take part. The CSEW is a key

data source used by the government to assess the extent of experience of crime in England and Wales on an annual basis. Importantly, this data source includes crimes that may not have been reported to the police; typically the CSEW therefore records higher levels of crime than reported in police recorded crime (Office for National Statistics, 2012b)

The CSEW indicates that in 2015/16, 6.2% of adults had experienced 'any domestic abuse' (defined as partner or family non-physical abuse, threats, force or sexual assault) in the last year, with a higher rate (8.1%) in women compared to men (4.3%). Based on mid 2016 population estimates, this equates to approximately 1.4 million female and 720,000 male victims aged 16 to 59 reporting having suffered DVA within the last year in England and Wales. (Office for National Statistics, 2016a & Office for National Statistics, 2017a) Recent research by Walby drilled down into the CSEW data (the uncapped data) to uncover more about the gendered nature of DVA (Gayle, 2015). The published CSEW data is the capped data which means they place a cap on the number of violent crime people report in the survey. The restriction to the first five incidents in a series has been applied since the CSEW began in order to ensure that estimates are not affected by a very small number of respondents who report an extremely high number of incidents and which are highly variable between survey years. When they looked at which victims experienced the most frequent and most severe DVA, it was predominantly women and this gets masked by the 1 in 4 women and 1 in 6 men statistic. Whilst 1 in 6 men may have self-reported experiencing DVA, it was predominatly a one off incident, but those experiencing repeated and severe DVA were mostly women. (Walby et al, 2016)

Figure 8 depicts the trends in self-reported prevalence of 'any domestic abuse' across England and Wales for adults aged 16 to 59, by gender, for the year ending March 2005 to the year ending March 2016, based on CSEW data. Reported prevalence has fallen for both sexes compared to baseline in 2004/05, though it appears that reported prevalence rates among males has begun to increase in recent years. (Office for National Statistics, 2016a)

In addition to providing data on experience of 'any domestic abuse' within the previous year, ONS also reported on lifetime experience of 'any domestic abuse', within the publication on "Intimate personal violence and partner abuse," (March 2016) a slightly broader definition, which includes stalking. Lifetime prevalence rates were markedly higher than in-year prevalence; 20.2% adults reported having experienced DV at least once since the age of 16. Almost 27.1% of women reported some lifetime experience of DV, compared to 13.2% of men.





Taking partner abuse and family abuse as distinct forms of DVA, the CSEW further classifies abuse within these two areas. Table 1 presents these data, illustrating that DVA is most likely to involve non-physical abuse when it relates to partner abuse.

Table 1	Prevalence of different forms of partner and family abuse
	rievalence of anterent forms of particle and family abase

	Partner abuse	Family abuse
Any	17.1	7.8
Non-physical abuse	9.1	3.0
(emotional, financial)		
Threats	12.2	2.9
Force	10.6	3.7

Figures are percentages who were victims once or more since the age of 16

Source: (Office for National Statistics, 2016)

#### Repeat victimisation

The CSEW also provides data on repeat victimisation. In 2015/16, 30% of those reporting DV were repeat victims, but this group accounted for 58% of all DVA incidents (Office for National Statistics, 2016) Figure 9 below shows the trend in repeat victimisation rates, which is showing an overall decline, although the data shows a high level of volatility. (Office for National Statistics 2016) The repeat victimisation rate for all DVA victims who report to the police is 42% (April-Sept. 2017) – or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> (No data point is available for the year ending March 2008, because comparable questions on stalking, an offence that makes up the domestic abuse category, were not included in that year)

39% for 2016-17. The rate of repeat victimisation of high risk victims in MARAC in Sunderland is 33% (Table 2).



Figure 9 Trends in self-reported victimisation of domestic abuse in England and Wales

## Local data

DVA is known to be an underreported crime, meaning that a substantial number of victims are likely to be missing from police and other official data sources. Through extrapolation of national estimates derived from the CSEW, the rate of DVA in Sunderland can be estimated. The 2015/16 CSEW found that 6.2% of the adult population (aged 16 to 59) had experienced DVA within the previous year. The adult population of Sunderland aged 16-59 is estimated to be 160,697. (Office for National Statistics, 2016) Therefore, based on crude extrapolation from the national CSEW data, there would be approximately 9,963 victims of DVA aged between 16-59 in Sunderland in 2015/16. As reported in the previous section, approximately half this number of incidents was reported to Northumbria Police.

In the CSEW 2015/16 showed that only 50% of DVA incidents were reported to the police. (Office for National Statistics, 2016c) A total of 6,382 incidents were reported to the police in Sunderland in 2016/17. If the reported incidents represented just 50% of all incidents, the total number may have been as high as 12,764.

The CSEW (2015/16) reported that to estimate the number of people who have experienced any domestic abuse (partner or family non-physical abuse, threats, force, sexual assault or stalking) since the age of 16 was 20%. Based on an estimated adult population aged 16-59 in Sunderland of 160,697 (aged 16-59 yrs, as this is the age-group who took part in the CSEW questionnaire), it is estimated that approximately 32,129 people within this age group in the city may have been or are currently affected by domestic violence (ONS mid-2015 estimates).

#### **Police recorded DVA incidents**

Data relating to the number of DVA incidents, gender of victims and repeat victimisation was provided directly by Northumbria Police. All other data relating to DVA incidents was obtained from extracts of the Northumbria Police data using a police computer and iBase software.

Northumbria Police responded to a total of 6,382 DVA incidents in Sunderland during 2016/17 a rise from 6,121 the previous year. The number of reported incidents has fluctuated around 6,000 for the past four years without evidence of any discernible trend.

Public Health England reports the number of incidents of domestic abuse recorded by the police. This shows the crude rate per 1,000 population aged 16 and over of DV in Sunderland are amongst the lowest reported levels in the region:

Area	Count	Value		95%	95%
$\blacksquare \nabla$				Lower CI	Upper CI
England	-	22.1		22.0	22.1
North East region	-	30.4		30.2	30.6
County Durham	-	38.4	н	37.9	38.9
Darlington	-	38.4	н	37.9	38.9
Stockton-on-Tees	-	33.5	н	33.0	34.0
Redcar and Cleveland	-	33.5	н	33.0	34.0
Middlesbrough	-	33.5	н	33.0	34.0
Hartlepool	-	33.5	н	33.0	34.0
Gateshead	-	25.7	H	25.4	26.0
Sunderland	-	25.7	H	25.4	26.0
South Tyneside	-	25.7	H	25.4	26.0
North Tyneside	-	25.7	H	25.4	26.0
Newcastle upon Tyne	-	25.7	H	25.4	26.0
Northumberland	-	25.7	H	25.4	26.0

and Sunderland is not an outlier when compared with statistical neighbours:

#### 1.11 - Domestic abuse-related incidents and crimes - current method 2015/16

Neighbour Rank 95% 95% Area Value Count Upper CI Lower CI England 22.1 22.0 22.1 5 33.5 H 33.0 34.0 Redcar and Cleveland 6 33.5 Н 33.0 Hartlepool 34.0 11 29.9 30.4 Tameside 30.1 H Salford 14 30.1 29.9 30.4 Rotherham 12 28.9 28.6 29.2 Н Stoke-on-Trent 7 27.7 27.4 28.0 9 St. Helens 26.2 25.9 26.5 Knowsley 8 26.2 25.9 26.5 Gateshead 4 25.7 25.4 26.0 25426.0 Sunderland 25.7 South Tyneside 1 25.7 25.4 26.0 H 3 25.7 25.4 26.0 North Tyneside Wakefield 15 24.9 247 25.2 North East Lincolnshire 10 24.8 24.4 25.1 Plymouth 2 19.8 19.6 20.1 Halton 13 9.4 9.2 9.6

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS)

#### Victims

The 6382 DVA incidents reported to Northumbria Police in 2016/17 involved 3,869 victims, 2966 (77%) of which were female and 901 (23%) male. There were 1510 repeat victims during 2016/17, representing 39% of all victims.

Further data on DVA incidents was extracted from the dataset available to the SSP. In this dataset, it was not possible to identify only *adult* victims of DVA incidents. Therefore any reference to incidents herein refers to victims of all ages, which is broader than the definition of DVA outlined in the scope of this HNA.

## Seasonal distribution of DVA incidents

Temporal analysis by Northumbria police indicates that the highest levels of incidents of domestic abuse are reported on the weekend. During 2013-14 period 35.8% of domestic abuse was reported over Saturday-Sunday with the highest levels on Sunday (19%). The lowest levels were experienced between Tuesday–Friday. This pattern was the same across the previous 3 years of data and across both family member incidents and partner/ex-partner incidents.

Levels are highest during the summer months, especially in July and August. Levels then decrease and are low during September- November before increasing again over December and January. These patterns are to be expected, these periods coincide during parts of the year when above average levels of socialising takes place – the summer months (and often

Crude rate - per 1000

sporting events) and over Christmas/New Year period. These also coincide with higher levels of alcohol consumption.

The lowest levels of reporting take place within the early hours of the day between 05:00 and 07:00. From this point onwards levels steadily increase and peak between 23:00 and 01:00. After this point levels then quickly decrease to the 05:00 low point.

## Geographical distribution of DVA incidents

Figure 10 illustrates the distribution of reported DVA incidents across the city, proportional to population size, by Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA). LSOAs are small level geographies containing between 1,000 and 3,000 people. As such they are much smaller than wards and were designed to improve the reporting of small area statistics. (Office for National Statistics, 2013a). Blue represents the lowest rates of DVA per capita, with, green, yellow and orange representing increasing rates, up to the highest rates, shown in red. The map shows the highest rates of reported DVA were found in pockets around Hendon, Pallion, Southwick, and Washington South wards.





Figure 10 Map showing the geographical distribution of reported DVA incidents in Sunderland January- December 2016

Analysing this in terms of incidents per 1,000 population (at ward level, and using 2016/17 data), the distribution of reported DVA incidents (2016/17) across the city was inequitable, ranging from a peak of 52.24 per 1000 population in Hendon ward to a low of 8.9 per 1,000 population in Fulwell ward. Figure 13 shows the number and rate per 1,000 population of reported DVA incidents in each ward of the city in 2016/17.



\*Adult population based on mid-2015 ward population estimates, published by the Office for National Statistics.

#### Geographical distribution of DVA crimes

As with incidents, there was marked variation in the prevalence of DVA crimes across the city. Figure 12 illustrates this variation by ward, as well as showing the trend in number of DVA crimes for each ward over the previous year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is important to note that the total number of DV incidents included in the dataset provided from iBase differs from that provided directly by Northumbria Police. The report from police computer included a total of 6804 DV incidents in 2016. The data from the police computer is based on recorded DV incidents, where a "domestic abuse flag" is recorded while the data provided from Northumbria Police is based on 'domestic abuse records' created by officers. On attending an incident where DV has not been identified, an officer may suspect DV and create a record. As such, there are a greater number of DV incidents included in the dataset provided by Northumbria Police than that from the SSP. The data in Figure 13 is taken from DV incidents with a "domestic abuse flag".

The data show a marked inequality in the number of reported DVA crimes experienced by ward, and in trends in numbers of DVA crimes over the last two years. There have been decreases from the previous year for DVA crimes in some wards including Pallion, Sandhill, Houghton and St Peters. In many wards there have been increases over the previous year, such as Hendon, Redhill, Millfield, Hetton, St. Anne's, Shiney Row and Barnes. While this apparent variation warrants further investigation, it is important to note that it may be the result, entirely or partly, of working with small numbers.





#### Association with deprivation

Every LSOA has been assigned a deprivation score, (Index of Multiple Deprivation, IMD) with lower scores indicating lower levels of deprivation. (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2010) The 2013 DV HNA reported a highly statistically significant correlation between the rate of reported DVA incidents and deprivation at LSOA level (Sunderland City Council, 2013). It found a clear trend that LSOAs with higher deprivation scores tend to experience higher rates of reported DVA incidents.

While these analyses suggest that DVA incidence is significantly higher in more deprived areas, it is important to note that this refers only to *reported* DVA incidence. There is conflicting opinion as to whether DVA is equally common but less reported by more affluent women, (Walby, 2004 and Harne, 2010) or the prevalence is genuinely lower in more affluent communities. (Renzetti, 2009) A Department of Health publication described a strong socioeconomic gradient for violence, likely to be attributable to a clustering of risk factors for violence in deprived communities. (Department of Health, 2012) It should however be noted that DVA incidents were reported in every ward of the City in 2016/17, so although some areas have higher reported rates than others, DVA is a citywide issue in Sunderland.

Women living in households in the 20% most deprived areas of the England were more likely to be victims of domestic abuse (9.1%) than women in other areas (5.6% for the 20% least deprived areas and 6.7% in other areas). The prevalence of domestic abuse for men was not statistically different between these three area types. (Penhale and Porritt, 2010)

#### Local data: Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC)

MARAC is recommended by the Home Office as best practice for addressing high risk cases of DVA. DVA is a complex issue which no single agency can address alone. It has been recognised nationally that MARACs represent best practice in managing the highest risk cases of DVA. (HM Government 2010a) The MARAC process is a multi-agency approach which enables the identification and management of high risk DVA cases through information sharing by a number of agencies and organisations to assess the needs of highrisk victims, enabling action planning to reduce risk. The MARAC aims to ensure that agencies work together to minimise risk to those at the most serious risk of harm or death. Northumbria Police and partner agencies undertake risk assessment of DVA incidents to determine the severity and ongoing risk. Incidents are rated as Standard, Medium or High risk, with High Risk cases being managed through the MARAC process. MARAC data from SafeLives for the 12 month period to 30 June 2017 shows that there were 605 high risk victims considered at MARAC.

Collated information on MARAC activity levels are presented below:

Number of	Number	Number of	% from BME	% of	% where	% male
cases	(%) of	children in	communities	LGBT	victim	victims
discussed	repeat	households		cases	has a	
	cases				registered	
					disability	
605	33	1044	2	0.8	1.3	3.5

#### Table 2: Sunderland MARAC activity levels 12 months to 30<sup>th</sup> June 2017

Sunderland MARAC data from SafeLives for 12 months to 30<sup>th</sup> June 2017 show that there have been 605 victims referred to MARAC (with 1044 children) and many of these victims have additional vulnerabilities such as alcohol misuse, drug misuse, mental ill health, learning disabilities, physical disabilities etc. The Independent Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA) service supports the majority of these victims but has significant capacity issues. It is recommended there should be around 470 high risk victims for a population size of Sunderland with 5 IDVAs supporting these victims. Currently there are 605 high risk victims referred to MARAC in the 12 months to June 2017 and based on the actual volume of high risk cases Sunderland should have 6.5 IDVAs but only currently has 4 x FTE IDVAs (3 of these are part of the commissioned specialist domestic abuse service and includes the manager and the hospital IDVA; the other IDVA is funded by the service provider to help manage the workload).

MARAC has discussed a very small proportion of cases where the victim was male (3.5%), or from the LGBT community (0.8%), again suggesting that these groups may be underrepresented in the MARAC data. This is consistent with research evidence which shows under-representation of LGBT victims at MARAC at both national and regional level. (Donovan, 2010) Census estimates indicate that approximately 5.2% of the Sunderland population are from the BME community. (Office for National Statistics, 2012e). 2% of MARAC cases were from the BME community.(Table 2) Those from BME communities appear to be under-represented in the MARAC data, though to a lesser extent than the other groups described above. In 2016-17 there was a drop in the number of BME victims reporting to the Police in Sunderland (-24% or 26 fewer victims) which had taken the proportion of victims who are BME from 2.9% down to 2.2%. The April-Sept 2017-18 data have shown a continued fall (-10% or 5 fewer victims) and the proportion of BME victims is now only 1.8%. Repeat victimisation levels in Sunderland are around 33% and within the national SafeLives recommended levels of 28%-40% (Sunderland City Council, 2015)

#### Change that Lasts

Sunderland is one of 3 national Change That Lasts (CTL) pilots. Women's Aid England, in partnership with Welsh Women's Aid, has developed the Change that Lasts model. Current provision and partnerships are often funded with a focus on short term risk reduction. Risk assessment is increasingly the main gateway to support with the management of risk as the main criterion of success. Understanding of risk is limited to homicide and serious injury and fails to take into account other factors such as the risk of homelessness and financial insecurity. It also does not account for the resources and resilience that survivors bring to their situation. The unintended consequences of this approach are that survivors are being held responsible for reducing the risks posed by the perpetrator and that risk is being managed in the absence of considering the survivor's other needs.

CTL has the ultimate aims of reducing the number of women and children living with abuse and the long term costs associated with abuse to survivors, services and society. The model is underpinned by a strengths-based, needs-led, trauma informed approach for supporting domestic abuse survivors and their children to build resilience and foster independence. CTL recognises risk as a safety need, but also takes into account the wider array of needs and resources survivors have. It places survivors at the heart of the model and builds upon good practice already established in local areas to codify and evidence what we know works. Crucially, CTL is cost effective as it builds on existing structures and opportunities to respond to domestic abuse.

Change that Lasts is made up of three main interventions, which together, ensure that survivors can access help wherever they disclose abuse

#### 1. The ask me scheme

One of the key principles of CTL is that every point of interaction with a survivor is an opportunity for intervention. It should not be missed, and should never add to the enormous barriers that survivors already face. In response to this, we are piloting a scheme that will

widen the opportunities there are for survivors to access help within their communities. Ask me will work with the local community to change the way it acts and think about abuse by creating spaces where people who have experienced abuse can feel safe to access vital information and be directed to the help that they need the first time around. Women's Aid will work with local services to train and support people to become an ask me ambassador and help establish their organisation as an ask me site by putting up posters and leaflets and sharing their learning with their colleagues. Ambassadors will also sign a pledge to 'pay it forwards' by talking to others in their personal networks to help raise awareness about coercive control and domestic abuse.

#### 2. The trusted professional

Survivors have paid testament to the importance of a trusted relationship with an individual professional in facilitating change for them. The trusted professional intervention is aimed at public and voluntary sector services, such as substance misuse, mental health and children's services, that do not deliver a specialist domestic abuse response but are likely to have an established relationship with survivors through their work. In Sunderland the focus will be on a cohort of those working in housing, early help and mental health. The aim of the intervention is to increase the confidence levels and skills of staff to enable them to provide a more holistic and helpful response to the survivors, the trusted professional will receive training on how to recognise the signs of abuse so that domestic abuse is not missed and is included as a support need in case management. Trusted professionals will also receive assessment and support planning tools to enable them to provide a safe and needs led response within the limitations of their role.

#### 3. Expert Support Services – a trauma informed approach

Dedicated domestic abuse services provide the level of expertise that is crucial to facilitating long term and meaningful change for survivors. They are often engaged with survivors for a longer period than other agencies and are most likely to come into contact with the survivors with the most complex needs. The third element provides delivery a framework for the core dedicated domestic abuse services to enhance their support for survivors and strengthen their capacity to deal with complex issues in accessing safety and recovery from the traumatic impacts of abuse. This intervention builds upon the emerging evidence from a small scale pilot delivered by My Sisters Place where a trauma informed approach was shown to achieve significant positive benefits for the service users involved. Women's Aid will take the learning from this pilot, developing and testing a framework and the resources that will enable providers to effectively support survivors with additional and complex needs.

Essentially this response refocuses on the approach developed by the VAWG sector and provides the framework to evidence the positive impact of this upon survivors. Women's Aid will provide the resources, and training, along with assessment, support planning and evaluation tools, which correspond to their case management and outcomes system On Track.

## Local data: Sunderland Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB)

Data from 2011/12 from the SSCB indicated that, on average, Children's Social Care received approximately 5,000 referrals related to DVA per year. Data on the proportion of referrals to children's social care in Sunderland which were related to DVA are available for the previous three complete financial years (Table 3). Note that a referral refers to a child, rather than a family, and it is possible that one incident may be reported more than once in the data. This occurs when a referral is received from more than one agency. Although there is annual variation, the data showed that approximately one third of all referrals to Children's Social Care in Sunderland were related to DVA. Recent data has not been obtained as DVA has been captured within a more generic title of neglect, but a new system *Liquid Logic* should enable Together for Children to provide more detailed analysis in the future.

Table 3 Domestic v	violence related r	referrals to Childre	en's Social Care in Su	nderland, 2009/10 to
2011/12				

	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12	Three year average
Number of referrals related to DV	3,952	5,705	5,116	4,924
Proportion of referrals related to DV	28.2%	36.9%	32.5%	32.7%

During 2015/16, domestic violence was identified as a factor in 547 (26%) referrals out of the 2115 referrals to social care that went on to assessment (where one or more factors were identified). (Department for Education, 2016)

Table 4 shows the proportion of families becoming subject to a child protection plan (CPP) which were related to DVA over the same time period. Again, there is annual fluctuation,
however the data show that just under half of all families becoming subject to a CPP in Sunderland were related to DV in 2011/12.

	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12	Three year average
Number of CPP related to DV	101	150	139	130
Proportion of CPP related to DV	41.6%	54.3%	46.0%	47.5%

# Table 4 Domestic violence related Child Protection Plans in Sunderland, 2009/10 to 2011/12

## **Protected Characteristics and Risk Factors**

#### Risk of DV in specific groups

The Equality Act 2010 makes illegal the unfair treatment of people because of protected characteristics. (HM Government 2010b) The nine protected characteristics set out in the Equality Act are:

- age
- disability
- gender identity
- marriage/civil partnership
- pregnancy/maternity
- race
- religion/belief
- sex
- sexual orientation

Independent risk factors for DVA victimisation can also include drug or alcohol use, longterm illness or disability, household income, housing tenure and occupation (2009/10 BCS). It is important to note that association does not necessarily imply a causal relationship with DVA. (Smith, 2011)

## Age

Data from the previous DVA HNA showed that, while 20-24 year olds report the highest rates, DVA can and does occur at all ages.

## Children

An estimated 130,000 children in the UK live in households with high-risk domestic abuse; that is, where there is a significant risk of harm or death. 6% of all children are estimated to be exposed to severe domestic abuse between adults in their homes at some point in childhood. Thousands more live with other levels of domestic abuse every single day (SafeLives, 2014). Exposure to DVA in childhood has been associated with an increased risk of involvement in violence in later life. Children who witness DVA in the home have

been shown to be at an increased risk of both suffering and perpetrating DVA as adults, as well as increased risk of involvement in youth violence. (Department of Health, 2012)

The psychological impact of living with domestic abuse is no smaller than the impact of being physically abused. Children are affected by overhearing violent incidents; the survivors and children are often degraded and belittled by the perpetrator. There may be parental drug/alcohol misuse/mental health issues, the destruction of property or belongings and other family members may be being hurt or intimidated and there may be abuse of siblings. Children may be forced to participate in the abuse or degradation; be made to watch physical or sexual assault or rape; feel responsible for protecting their parent or siblings; deal with the aftermath of seeing injuries and distress; witness the arrest of the parent and deal with issues of shame or embarrassment of neighbours observing incidents; being deprived of family and social contacts which reduces the likelihood of disclosure; and attempted suicide or even death of a parent.

Domestic abuse impacts negatively on children such as their emotional and physical wellbeing, their behaviour and attendance at school, feelings of blame, social adjustment and so on. They might experience: anxiety, restlessness, nightmares or sleep disruptions, eating disorders, headaches or chronic fatigue; distraction as well as difficulties with thinking, learning, concentrating, or processing information; re-living violence through play; fear of being alone or difficulty separating from parents; physical aggression; inappropriate social responses to others, bullying or peer victimization; or a diminished ability to trust others. Around 9 out of 10 children are in the same or the next room when domestic abuse incidents happen between their parents, and over 40% of these children will try and intervene to protect their family. In Sunderland, around 55% of child protection plans have domestic violence as the most prevalent issue in the families (Ref: Julie Smith, Domestic Abuse impact protected characteristics). The psychological impact of living with domestic abuse is no smaller than the impact of being physically abused. Children are affected by overhearing violent incidents; the victims and children are often degraded and belittled by the perpetrator. There may be parental drug/alcohol misuse/mental health issues, the destruction of property or belongings and other family members may be being hurt or intimidated and there may be abuse of siblings.

SafeLives (previously CAADA) have done extensive research on the impacts of domestic abuse on children and young people (SafeLives, 2014). This research (based on a national dataset from domestic abuse services) found a major overlap between domestic abuse and direct harm of children. Almost two thirds (62%) of the children who were exposed to

domestic abuse were also directly harmed. These children's families were vulnerable in multiple ways with the data showing a clear co-occurrence between the 'toxic trio' risk factors of domestic abuse, substance misuse (alcohol and/or drugs) and parental mental ill health. Nearly a third of mothers (31%) and a third of fathers (32%) in these families experiencing domestic abuse disclosed either mental health problems, substance misuse, or both. Children were suffering multiple physical and mental health consequences as a result of exposure to domestic abuse. Amongst other effects, over half (52%) had behavioural problems, over a third (39%) had difficulties adjusting at school and nearly two thirds (60%) felt responsible or to blame for negative events.

Data extracted from 2016/17 shows 41% of police reported DV incidents in Sunderland involved children (Northumbria Police, 2017). These statistics have been ascertained from those incidents where one or both of the following applied: 'Concern for Safety Persons Under 17 years old' or 'Vulnerable Child/Young Person'. It is not possible from these data to estimate the number of children affected, as it is likely that a number of cases will be in households with more than one child. A total of 2,618 incidents reported in 2016/17 involved children, therefore the most conservative estimate would indicate that at least 2,618 children were involved, though the actual number is likely to be considerably higher.

#### **Older people**

Domestic abuse can affect older victims in different ways to young victims. For some, it can be 'domestic abuse grown old' where it started earlier in life and persists into old age. Some older people enter into abusive relationships late in life, where the perpetrator is a new spouse or intimate partner. For others, late onset domestic abuse can begin in old age. There may have been a strained relationship or emotional abuse earlier that has got worse as the partners aged (Ref: Julie Smith, Domestic Abuse impact protected characteristics). In 2016-17 there were 3,869 victims (6382 incidents) and of these there were 340 victims aged 55+ which is only 8.8% of all victims (Northumbria Police, 2017). However, Sunderland's female populations aged +55 years is 47,778 (mid-2016 estimates) and given that 1 in 4 women are expected to experience domestic abuse at some point in their lives, those reporting abuse to the police are still a very small minority. There were 224 victims aged over 55 years who reported their abuse to the Police in Sunderland April-Sept (a +22.4% rise). This means that the proportion of all victims aged 55 or over is 9.1% and is at its highest levels in Sunderland and likely to be as a result of the local awareness raising that continues to be done around abuse in older relationships (Police data April to September 2017).

Barriers to reporting can be both service-based barriers (e.g. staff failing to recognise signs/symptoms as domestic abuse); and the victims' own personal barriers (e.g. caring responsibilities where victims of domestic abuse may be being cared for by their partner or they may be their partner's carer. They may have to care for adult disabled children or may feel their abusers are emotionally dependent on them, and/or feel responsible for them; older victims typically demonstrate feelings of stigma and shame; generational beliefs with older victims often having more traditional attitudes towards marriage and gender roles; prolonged trauma and psychological damage; and many older victims have become financially dependent on their abuser etc.). ((Ref: Julie Smith, Domestic Abuse impact protected characteristics, Penhale and Porritt, 2010)

#### Disability

Research into disabled women's experiences has found that the effect of being both disabled and a woman places disabled women at significant and higher risk than women in the general population (LGA and ADASS Adult safeguarding and domestic abuse: A guide to support practitioners and managers). Women's Aid has identified that disabled victims of domestic abuse on average contact services 12 times (compared to an average of 5 times) before their needs around the domestic abuse are met. (ref Julie Smith, Domestic Abuse impact protected characteristics)

The data in Table 2 shows that 1.3% of victims in MARAC cases have a registered disability. The Office for Disability Issues prevalence estimates indicate that there are 0.6 million disabled people in the North East; equivalent to approximately 24% of the population. (Office for Disability Issues, 2012 and Office for National Statistics, 2011) The estimated prevalence of physical disability in people aged 16-64 in Sunderland in 2012 was 11.5%, and the QOF prevalence of learning disability in 2013/14 Sunderland was 0.6% (Public Health England, 2017).

#### **Gender identity**

An equality impact assessment (HM Government 2011b) reported that experience of DVA varied according to sexual orientation and gender identity, with bisexual and transgender people more likely to experience DVA than lesbians and gay men. No comparison was made between these groups and the heterosexual population.

#### Marriage/civil partnership

Findings from the ONS report on intimate personal violence and partner abuse (ONS, 2016) reported that women who were separated had the highest prevalence of any domestic abuse in the last year (19.8%) compared with other marital status groups (such as married/civil partnered 3.6%) or cohabiting (6.6%)). Married /civil partnered men were less likely to experience any domestic abuse (2.4%) compared with all other marital status groups. The percentage of widowed women who were a victim of domestic abuse in the last year was higher in the year ending March 2015 than in previous years, however, this is based on a small number of respondents, therefore it is too early to draw any conclusions on whether this is a real increase in the prevalence for this demographic group

## Pregnancy/maternity

It has been estimated that around one third of cases of DVA start during pregnancy, and that almost one in ten women are thought to be abused during or following pregnancy, with particularly high rates among teenage mothers. (HM Government 2011b) A woman who is experiencing domestic abuse may have particular difficulties using antenatal care services: for example, the perpetrator of the abuse may try to prevent her from attending appointments. The woman may be afraid that disclosure of the abuse to a healthcare professional will worsen her situation, or anxious about the reaction of the healthcare professional. NICE guideline CG110 recommends training healthcare professionals in the identification and care of women who experience domestic abuse through routine enquiry in maternity and midwifery services (NICE, 2011).

#### Race

BME victims tend to require longer term support and are often at significantly high risk. Many of these victims have no recourse to public funds, complicated visa and immigration issues or other complex needs connected to FGM, forced marriage and honour based abuse (where there can be multiple perpetrators). There are high levels of under reporting to the police and they can often be identified sooner through health routes as opposed to criminal justice routes as they are often less likely to contact the police (SafeLives, 2016). BME victims tend to require longer term support and are often at significant high risk. Many of these victims have no recourse to public funds, complicated visa and immigration issues or other complex needs connected to FGM, forced marriage and honour based abuse. There are high levels of under reporting to the police and they can often be identified sooner through health routes as opposed to criminal justice routes as they are often less likely to contact the police (SafeLives, 2016; Julie Smith paper on Domestic Abuse impact protected characteristics).

The vast majority of reported DVA crimes were committed against those of white ethnic origin (97.8%). A small proportion of reported crimes (1.5%) were committed against victims of Asian or Asian British ethnic origin, with less than 1% committed against those of Black or Black British ethnicity (Northumbria Police, 2017). Census estimates indicate that approximately 5.2% of the Sunderland population are from the BME community. (Office for National Statistics, 2012e). In 2016-17 there was a drop in the number of BME victims reporting to the Police in Sunderland (-24% or 26 fewer victims) which had taken the proportion of victims who are BME from 2.9% down to 2.2%. The April-Sept 2017-18 data have shown a continued fall (-10% or 5 fewer victims) and the proportion of BME victims is now only 1.8%.

## **Religion/belief**

The BCS found that ethnicity was not independently associated with risk of DVA, however some specific forms of DVA, such as forced marriage, so-called 'honour' based violence (HBV) and female genital mutilation, are disproportionately distributed by race or religion/belief. (HM Government 2010a).

Northumbria Police recorded less than 5 HBV incidents in Sunderland between April to September 2017. Nationally there were 11,744 recorded incidences by the police between 2010 and 2014. The Government have recently stated that there are believed to be approximately 12 honour-related killings annually, but that actual prevalence could be much higher. (Cowen, 2003, HM Government 2011b)

The Forced Marriage Unit (FMU) which is a joint Foreign and Commonwealth Office and Home Office unit was set up in January 2005 to lead on the Government's forced marriage policy, outreach and casework. It operates both inside the UK, where support is provided to any individual, and overseas, where consular assistance is provided to British nationals, including dual nationals. The FMU operates a public helpline to provide advice and support to victims of forced marriage as well as to professionals dealing with cases. The assistance provided ranges from simple safety advice, through to aiding a victim to prevent their unwanted spouse moving to the UK ('reluctant sponsor' cases), and, in extreme circumstances, to rescues of victims held against their will overseas.

The FMU undertake an extensive outreach and training programme of around 100 events a year, targeting both professionals and potential victims. The FMU also carry out media campaigns, such as 2015's 'right to choose' campaign, where the FMU commissioned a short film to raise awareness amongst young people at risk of being forced into marriage, as well as potential perpetrators.

Robust data on the prevalence of FGM in the UK is similarly lacking, though it is known to be more common in certain ethnic groups. A recent report into the issue from the British Medical Association (BMA) stated that the majority of cases in this country were refuges, particularly those from Egypt, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gambia, Iraq, Kenya, Kurdistan, Liberia, Mali, Nigeria, Northern Sudan, Sierra Leone and Somalia. FGM can be encountered in the UK in women and girls who have already been mutilated, and in girls who might be. The most common age for FGM to occur is from 7 to 9 years. (BMA 2011) Data from HSCIC (Health and Social Care Information Centre, now NHS Digital) for 2015/16 showed there were 70 newly recorded cases of FGM in the North East and Cumbria. No data is listed for Sunderland, which indicates that between 0-4 cases may have been recorded (numbers under 5 are not disclosed due to confidentiality).

A Department of Health funded study (Forward, 2007) reported that:

- An estimated 65,790 women resident in England and Wales in 2001 had undergone FGM, with over half being from Kenya or Somalia.
- In 2004, there were an estimated 9,032 maternities to women who were likely to have undergone FGM.

There are no accurate statistics on forced marriage in the UK. There are statistics available from the Forced Marriage Unit (FMU) which provide information on the extent of the problem. The latest statistics by the FMU in 2015 (as of 8 March 2016) state that the FMU gave advice or support in 1200 cases with 80% involving female victims and 57% of cases involving South-Asian communities.

#### Sex

Women are more likely to be victims of domestic abuse than men. The CSEW indicates that in 2015/16, 6.2% of adults had experienced 'any domestic abuse' (defined as partner or family non-physical abuse, threats, force or sexual assault) in the last year, with a higher rate (8.1%) in women compared to men (4.3%). Based on mid 2016 population estimates, this equates to approximately 1.4 million female and 720,000 male victims aged 16 to 59 reporting having suffered DV within the last year in England and Wales.

In addition, DVA is known to be an underreported crime; therefore it is likely that these estimates for both sexes do not provide a true representation of the scale of the issue. Men are generally less likely to engage in help-seeking behaviours (Courtenay, 2000, O'Brien 2005 and Smith, 2012) and therefore may be less likely than females to report DV.

Capped data from CSEW masks the frequency and severity of DVA for female victims and women are more likely to experience more frequent and more severe abuse and men are more likely to experience one off incidents of DVA.

#### **Sexual orientation**

Data from SafeLives showed that just 1.3% of victim cases accessing support identified as LGBT. Of the cases discussed at MARAC in 2012/13 only 0.8% were noted to involve a LGBT victim. Informed guidance on this subject would suggest that MARAC and domestic abuse services in urban areas should expect a proportionate representation of 10%, suggesting that domestic abuse amongst LGBT men and women is heavily under reported (SafeLives, 2015). This is consistent with research evidence which shows under-representation of LGBT victims at MARAC at both national and regional level. (Donovan, 2010) Research demonstrates that LGB and/or T people can be reluctant to turn to mainstream services because of fears of homophobia or of being 'outed' or of an inappropriate response. They may be fearful of leaving because the abuser has threatened to 'out' them if they do leave. Research also highlights that because domestic abuse is often seen as something which heterosexual gendered women experience, some LGB and/or T people may not actually realise that what they are experiencing is domestic abuse. (Julie Smith, Domestic Abuse impact protected characteristics)

DVA amongst gay men has been shown to be associated with mental and sexual health problems and drug and alcohol abuse. (Bacchus et al, 2016)

In 2013, just over one in ten DV incidents occurred in same sex relationships (667; 11%) (Northumbria Police, 2013).

## Alcohol

Over the last year, there has been an increase in both DVA crimes and alcohol related DVA related crimes. In Sunderland, data from Northumbria Police shows that there has been a 24.2% increase in alcohol-related DV crimes during 2016/17, although the proportion of the total number of DV crimes which are alcohol-related has fallen from 45.6% in 2015/16 to 39.3% in 2016/17 with the most current data showing the proportion being 28.7% in April-Sept 2017 (Table 5 below).

	Total DV crimes	Alcohol related	Proportion of DVA crimes that
			are alcohol-
			related
2014/15	1468	732	49.9%
2015/16	2265	1035	45.6%
2016/17	3272	1285	39.3%
April-			
Sept	2549	732	28.7%
2017			

#### Table 5 Number and proportion of alcohol related DV crimes

## **Substance Misuse**

A study on intimate personal violence and partner abuse reported that victims were more likely to report that the offender was under the influence of alcohol (17%) rather than illicit drugs (10%) (ONS, 2016). Female victims were more likely than male victims to perceive that the offender was under the influence of drugs (12% compared with 3%). However, caution should be taken when making inferences about the relationship between alcohol consumption, illicit drug taking and partner abuse victimisation. The victim's alcohol consumption and illicit drug use may affect or be affected by their experience of partner abuse e.g. some victims may use substances as a coping mechanism as a result of the trauma experienced.

#### **Mental Health**

A recent systematic review has shown that the prevalence of DVA is significantly higher in both men and women with mental health disorders, compared to those without. For specific forms of mental health disorder (depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder) in women where sufficient data was available, the authors found that risk of DVA among these women ranged from two to seven times higher than in women without mental health disorders. (Trevillion, 2012) It should be noted that mental illness may be both a cause and effect of DVA therefore care should be taken when interpreting the numerical risk estimates quoted. Nonetheless, the association between DVA and mental illness means that those working with individuals with mental illness should be aware of the vulnerability for DVA to be present, and vice versa.

## Evidence review

## Health impacts of domestic violence

The well documented health impacts of DVA have been quantified in a report based on the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) and summarised in a Department of Health publication. (Department of Health, 2012) Data from the CSEW indicates that approximately one in four (27%) victims of DVA experienced physical injury. The most common types of injuries sustained were 'minor bruising or black eye' (18%) and 'scratches' (13%). Approximately two in five (39%) victims experienced emotional or mental health problems, which ranged from relationship or trust issues (19%) to suicide attempts (4%). (Office for National Statistics, 2012a)

In addition to direct physical, emotional and mental health impacts, DVA can also impact on health related behaviours, such as drug and alcohol misuse. (Department of Health, 2012) A study exploring the lives of sex workers in Tyne and Wear identified particularly high rates of DVA, as well as mental health problems and 'chaotic lifestyles' among sex workers. (PEER Research Team, 2013) These observations highlight the potential for the accumulation of risk factors in vulnerable groups, as well as emphasising the impact the DVA can have both on individuals, who may be more likely to engage in risky behaviour as a result, and on society, particularly from a criminal justice perspective.

In the most severe cases, DVA can result in homicide or suicide. It has been reported that on average there are two DVA homicides per week in England and Wales, and around 500 suicides per year occur in women who have experienced DVA. In the case of suicides, over one third had visited a hospital on the day they committed suicide. DVA is believed to be a factor in approximately one third of all female suicides. (Walby, 2004)

Each of the health impacts outlined is of particular significance in Sunderland:

- The physical injuries sustained by substantial numbers of DVA victims likely contribute to the high levels of demand for emergency care in Sunderland; reducing this is a key priority of the CCG.
- Links to mental health are particularly significant. Sunderland has the highest prevalence of depression and anxiety in the region at 17.8% of respondents aged 18

and over. This was the second lowest level when compared with statistical neighbours (GP Patient Survey, NHS England, cited on Public Health England 2017)

• Alcohol related hospital admissions in Sunderland are particularly high and reducing these is a further priority area for the city.

The SafeLives report *In plain sight: Effective help for children exposed to domestic abuse* (2014) reported that:

- 1. There is a major overlap between direct harm to children and domestic abuse: 62% of children exposed to domestic abuse in the research were also directly harmed
- 2. Children are suffering multiple physical and mental health consequences as a result of exposure to domestic abuse.
- 3. A quarter of the children exhibit abuse behaviours, mostly once their exposure to domestic abuse has ended
- 4. Only half of these children were previously known to children's social care, but 80% were known to at least one public agency.

The SafeLives report recommended that to ensure children's safety, provide linked specialist domestic abuse services for the child and the parents. Their evidence shows that these specialist children's services (e.g. children's IDVAs or children's DA specialist workers) give young people a voice and improve their safety, recovery, health and wellbeing. They meet the Munro Review's call to provide early help for all children at risk, and the requirements of the statutory guidance 'Working together to safeguard children' to place the child's needs and wishes at the heart of the service they receive. They also have the potential to alleviate pressure on children's social care and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), freeing them up to manage the highest-risk cases. They can also bring cost savings to health and criminal justice services in the long term by supporting children to move on from their experiences. Their evidence shows that stopping domestic abuse is a crucial first step in achieving safety for children. They recommend that domestic abuse services for parents should be commissioned in parallel with services for children. They recommend that every child living with domestic abuse should have someone to support them in their own right, using whichever local model works best (e.g. a children's worker in a domestic abuse service, dedicated therapeutic service etc.) and that they should exist alongside commissioned domestic abuse services that support victims and perpetrators to ensure services for children and parents are linked together in a whole family response). SafeLives state that as a minimum the domestic abuse services for children must offer all of the following:

- Practical age-appropriate help for the child with safety planning.
- Therapeutic support to help the child with feelings of blame and guilt, healthy relationships, abusive behaviour and how to resolve conflict.
- Other relevant interventions around the child based on their risk and need.

## Financial costs of domestic violence

A study published in 2009 estimated the total cost of DV in England and Wales in 2008 to be around £15.7 billion, of which £1.7 billion were health care costs. The costs of domestic abuse to Sunderland were estimated to be £79.6m per annum in 2013. (Domestic Violence Health Needs Assessment). It should be noted that these estimates were based on inflation and gross domestic product in 2008; therefore the true cost may be markedly different. Applying an uplift to this cost to reflect the overall population increase in Sunderland (276,080 in 2013 and 277,962 in 2016) would suggest a new crude estimate of costs of around £80.4m per annum.

Table 6 below provides an overview of the estimated costs across service sectors. (Walby 2009)

	2008 cost (millions)
Services	£3,856
Criminal justice system	£1,261
Health care	£1,730
Social services	£283
Housing and refuges	£196
Civil legal services	£387
Economic Output	£1,920
Human and emotional costs	£9,954
Total	£15,730

#### Table 6 The financial cost of domestic violence in England and Wales

In terms of health care (both physical and mental health), GPs and hospitals are the major costs included (Walby, 2009). Physical injuries account for most of the NHS costs (Walby, 2004). Overall, the study estimated that around 3% of the England and Wales NHS expenditure in 2001 was due to the physical injuries associated with domestic violence (covering hospital and ambulance services, GP and prescription health care services). However, there is an important element of mental health care (12.6% of the 2001 costs) in that it leads to increased use of health services e.g. costs associated with depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder; attempted and completed suicide.

The cost of DVA is similar to other public health priorities, such as smoking, obesity and alcohol misuse. Table 7 provides a comparison of annual costs for public health priorities in England (note: DV costs relate to England and Wales, so cost to England alone will be lower).

	Estimated annual cost to economy*	Estimated annual cost to NHS per year
Smoking	£5.2 billion	£2.7 billion
Alcohol misuse	£20.0 billion	£2.7 billion
Obesity	£15.8 billion	£4.2 billion
Physical inactivity	£8.3 billion	£1.8 billion
Domestic violence	£15.7 billion	£1.7 billion

## Table 7 Comparison of financial costs of public health priorities

\* Data for smoking, alcohol misuse, obesity and physical inactivity refers to England, from 2009 (Kings Fund, 2012). Data for domestic violence refers to England and Wales, from 2008 (Walby, 2009)

Prevention and intervention to end violence is more cost-effective than dealing with the consequences of long-term DVA. (Department of Health, 2011) A tool produced by the Department for Education estimated the average cost of responding to one DVA incident to be £23,315. (Centre for Excellence and Outcomes in Children and Young People's Services, 2011) The estimated total cost of DV, £15.7 billion in 2008, was a 32% decrease compared to 2001. This decrease in cost of DVA has been partly attributed to investment in public services to prevent and better respond to DVA. (Department of Health, 2011). Key findings from a review of the evidence base for what works in DVA interventions are set out below.

A publication from the Department of Health has reported that the MARAC process saves public services an average of £6,000 per case in direct costs. The NHS accrues 20% of the savings, police 32% and the wider criminal justice system 40%. (Department of Health, 2011)

The cost-effectiveness of the IDVA programme has been nationally evaluated; the cost of providing IDVA support to a victim of high risk DVA was estimated to be £500. Compared to the costs to public services associated with ongoing DVA, IDVAs were therefore found to be highly cost-effective. (Howarth, 2009)

Between 2007 and 2009 an evaluation of IDVA services was conducted by Howarth (2009) in the UK to understand the process of delivering IDVA services and the outcomes that may

be achieved for victims. The evaluation looked at 2,567 victims (and over 3600 children) at the point of referral and then at the closure of the case or after 4 months of engagement as an interim marker of case progress .

By engaging with supporting interventions, victims of domestic violence can either experience a cessation, reduction, or no change in their domestic violence. The evaluation found that IDVA is extremely effective in terms of cessation and reduction of domestic violence . The high effectiveness of IDVA is likely explained by the types of support interventions IDVAs help victims access. Therefore, it is important to recognise the effectiveness of providing IDVA is not due to IDVAs time alone but also due to the support interventions received. That is, the effectiveness represents a combined effect of both IDVAs time and support interventions that the IDVAs help the victim to access.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidance 2014 includes results of an economic modelling study of the use of IDVA services. Two key economic benefits associated with reducing domestic violence are:

- 1. Quality of life gain from reduced domestic violence; and
- 2. Cost savings associated with reduced domestic violence

Overall, the IDVA service intervention was found to be cost saving (that is, it both saves resources and improves quality of life) compared with no intervention. The overall message is that the cost of domestic violence and abuse is so significant that even marginally effective interventions are cost effective in achieving cessation in domestic violence and therefore represent efficient use of public resources. Full details can be found in the economic analysis of interventions to reduce the incidence and harm of domestic violence and abuse, and in <a href="http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH50/SupportingEvidence">http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH50/SupportingEvidence</a>.

Moreover, the benefit associated with preventing and reducing of domestic violence is wider than those captured in the economic modelling undertaken for this study; the economic model is limited to an analysis of specific health.

## What works: evidence of effective interventions

A widely used model in public health is that which classifies services and interventions as primary, secondary or tertiary prevention. Primary prevention is concerned with preventing an event (whether death and disease or abuse and assault) from occurring at all. Secondary prevention is concerned with early detection and, once an event has occurred, reducing the risk of deterioration in conditions, or of adverse effects. Tertiary prevention is concerned with minimising and responding to the negative impacts of a, usually chronic or long term, condition.

There is no core outcome set for DVA and therefore evaluations of interventions often report a variety of indicators, and use a variety of measures and tools, many of which are not validated. This can be a challenge when identifying evidence of "what works". A review of current service provision and gaps has been undertaken outwith this paper. Evidence around interventions to mitigate DVA for this paper has been obtained from a rapid review of available literature (Appendix 1).

Key findings are:

Primary prevention:

- A multi-agency approach to DVA is needed which should incorporate elements of prevention and management, whilst addressing the wider impact of DVA on the individual and their families.(SafeLives, 2016) (NICE, 2017)
- School-based interventions and support for families through health visiting, midwives and family nurse partnership, can promote healthy relationships (Wood, 2010) (Department of Health, 2012)
- Regulation of alcohol sales at a community level, for example through increasing prices (associated with reduction in intimate partner violence) (Wood, 2010) (Department of Health, 2012)
- Community interventions, including multiagency partnership working in areas such as tackling alcohol related DVA, and data sharing. (Department of Health, 2012)
- Changing social norms, through approaches such as mass media campaigns, aiming to shift stigma from victims to perpetrators. (Department of Health, 2012)
- Publish a directory of local and national services (NICE 2017)
- Consult with women, men and young people who have experienced domestic violence and abuse as part of a joint strategic needs assessment, including those from hard-to-reach communities (NICE 2017)

Secondary prevention:

- Identify and train key contacts responsible for advising on the safe sharing of domestic violence and abuse-related information (NICE 2017)
- Routine enquiry about DVA in health care setting by trained health care professionals can be successful in increasing disclosure (Wood, 2010), e.g. the IRIS programme<sup>3</sup> (Feder, 2011) (Department of Health, 2012) (SafeLives, 2015, 2016). Sunderland is piloting routine enquiry with 12 GP practices between 2017-19.
- Commission specialist services e.g.:
  - Children's outcomes significantly improve across all key measures after support from specialist children's services (SafeLives, 2014 and 2016)
  - Across local authority boundaries where there is not enough local need to justify setting them up within a particular local authority area. (This could include services to help prevent forced marriages, to help men, or lesbian, gay, bisexual or trans people affected by domestic violence, or for people subjected to 'honour' violence or stalking.) (NICE 2017)

Tertiary prevention:

- Victim advocacy, including case management, connection to legal services and information, and on a system-wide level, home visitation and health worker outreach can reduce a woman's risk of further victimisation. (Ellsberg, M, 2015) Advocacy services can reduce some forms of physical abuse in the medium, but not long, term (Wood, 2010)
- Substance misuse treatment among offenders (successful in reducing repeat offending; beyond the scope of this HNA) (Wood, 2010)
- Develop referral pathways that aim to meet the health and social care needs of all those affected by domestic violence and abuse, including people with protected characteristics and those who face particular barriers trying to access domestic violence and abuse support services. (NICE 2017)
- Commission specialist services e.g.:
  - Children's outcomes significantly improve across all key measures after support from specialist children's services (SafeLives, 2014 and 2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Identification and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) programme provides training to primary care staff, prompt in the medical record system to enquire about abuse and referral pathways to advocacy services.

- Across local authority boundaries where there is not enough local need to justify setting them up within a particular local authority area. (This could include services to help prevent forced marriages, to help men, or lesbian, gay, bisexual or trans people affected by domestic violence, or for people subjected to 'honour' violence or stalking). (NICE 2017)
- Services include advocacy, advice, floating support, outreach support, refuges and provision of tailored interventions for victims and their children. They also include housing workers, independent domestic violence advisers and multi-agency risk assessment conferences for those at high risk. Services should be tailored to the level of risk and specific needs of people experiencing domestic violence or abuse. (NICE guideline, PH50)

# RECOMMENDATIONS

- Recommendations from the 2013 DV HNA should be reviewed and impact assessed, and compliance against NICE pathways should be assessed
- A review of service provision and demand should accompany this HNA.
- Further work on BME, LGBT, travelling community and other minority groups could be undertaken to identify their needs and experiences of accessing services
- A review of children's data where this was not available should be undertaken
- Unlike many other areas of good practice, Sunderland does not have any Children's IDVA (CHIDVA) provision, specialist DVA workers for children or specialist workers providing therapeutic support, counselling and play therapy to offer short term emotional support to children and young people who are affected by domestic violence. Such services have been found to have a significant impact on the health and wellbeing of children. (Sunderland City Council, 2015) This is an area for further work.
- Use this HNA to inform the cross partnership DVA proposal around the formation of a cross-partnership time limited project group focused on understanding the prevalence and impact of domestic abuse on children, adults and their families, the strategies and plans in place to reduce the level and impact, identify areas/services for improvement and improve outcomes for those affected.
- Review the current approach taken in Sunderland to stop people offending (nationally less than 1% of DVA perpetrators receive a specialist intervention), break the cycle of abuse and provide ways out of difficult circumstances that achieve sustainable and lasting change

Author	Findings		
Wood, 2010	A review of the evidence for prevention of intimate partner violence identified five successful or promising		
	interventions:		
	School-based education programmes that promote healthy relationships (successful in reducing violence		
	toward current partners)		
	• Routine enquiry about DV in health care setting by trained health care professionals (successful in		
	increasing disclosure and identification of intimate partner violence; less evidence on protection against		
	future violence)		
	• Regulation of alcohol sales at a community level, for example through increasing prices (associated with		
	reduction in intimate partner violence)		
	• Advocacy services can reduce some forms of physical abuse in the medium, but not long, term (In		
	addition, the use of protection orders and SDVCs have generated successful criminal justice outcomes;		
	these are beyond the scope of this HNA)		
	• Substance misuse treatment among offenders (successful in reducing repeat offending; beyond the		
	scope of this HNA)		
Department of	This paper identified a range of violence prevention initiatives in which health services should have a leading role:		
Health, 2012	• Supporting parents and families by developing parenting skills and strengthening family relationships		
	(midwives, health visiting and family nurse partnership).		
	Developing life skills in children and young people, building social and emotional competencies and skills		
	in avoidance of conflict, poverty and crime (social development programmes, with a focus on healthy		
	relationships, gender and prevention of DV).		
	Reducing the availability and harmful use of alcohol, which is strongly associated with DV (non-health		
	approaches include reducing the density of alcohol outlets and controlling price; health interventions		
	include screening, identification and brief advice).		
	• Community interventions, including multiagency partnership working in areas such as tackling alcohol		
	related DV, and data sharing.		
	Changing social norms, through approaches such as mass media campaigns, aiming to shift stigma from		
	victims to perpetrators.		
	• Identification, care and support of victims to protect health and wellbeing and break the cycle of violence.		
	Health settings are highlighted as potentially ideal places to both identify and support victims of DV.		
	(Includes use of screening tools, training needs of health professionals, advocacy programmes, and		
	specialist high risk approaches such as MARAC and criminal justice interventions).		
	IRIS is highlighted by the Department of Health as an evidence-based method of providing DV training to		
	health professionals in primary care settings.		
Feder, 2011	IRIS has been shown in a randomised controlled trial to improve identification and referral of DV victims		
1 6061, 2011			
SafeLives,	In plain sight: Effective help for children exposed to domestic abuse (2014) reported that: Children's outcomes		
2014	significantly improve across all key measures after support from specialist children's services. Data shows a		
	relationship between cessation of domestic abuse and cessation of direct harm to children.		
SafeLives,	Getting it Right First Time looked at how to identify every family where domestic abuse takes place as quickly as		
2015	possible. Cutting the time it takes to find and help victims and their families is critical to stop murder, serious injury,		
	and enduring harm. Programmes in GP surgeries and advice agencies have shown that it is possible to		
	significantly increase identification. These programmes may also reach a group of victims and families who are		
	different to – and in some cases, more vulnerable than – those identified by other routes. Every area should have		
	enough capacity to respond to every identified victim and family living with abuse.		

# Appendix 1: Table of findings from Rapid Literature Review on DV

SafeLives,	The SafeLives publication A Cry for Health – Why we must invest in domestic abuse services in hospitals explored	
2016	the impact of co-location IDVA services in hospitals. It also examined the evidence base to highlight the benefits of	
2010	stronger links between the health sector and domestic abuse service through innovative models.	
	There must be clear referral pathways to specialist domestic abuse provision with the training and focus to	
	reassure victims and support them	
(Ellsberg, M,	A study published in the Lancet into the evidence base for prevention of violence against women and girls found	
(Elisberg, M, 2015)		
2013)	victim advocacy, including case management, connection to legal services and information, and on a system-wide level, home visitation and health worker outreach can reduce a woman's risk of further victimisation.	
NICE, 2017	NICE has published a domestic violence and abuse interactive pathway along with associated recommendations	
NICE, 2017	for commissioners. Full information, pathway and recommendations are available at:	
	https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/domestic-violence-and-abuse.	
	nups.//paurways.nice.org.uk/paurways/uomesiic=violence-and-abuse.	
	A summary of recommendations is below:	
	A summary of recommendations is below.	
	Plan services;	
	<ul> <li>Assess the need for DV services as part of the joint strategic needs assessment. This includes</li> </ul>	
	consulting with women, men and young people who have experienced domestic violence and abuse as	
	part of this assessment, including those from hard-to-reach communities.	
	Local commissioners of domestic violence and abuse services and related services should undertake a	
	comprehensive mapping exercise to identify all local services and partnerships that work in domestic	
	violence and abuse. (For example, this could include: ambulance services, housing, the police, health,	
	criminal justice, education, probation, safeguarding and social care services. It could also include other	
	specialist statutory, community and voluntary services, such as drug and alcohol services.) Map services	
	against the Home Office-endorsed Coordinated Community Response Model and identify any gaps.	
	Commissioners should develop referral pathways that aim to meet the health and social care needs of all	
	those affected by domestic violence and abuse. This includes people with protected characteristics and	
	those who face particular barriers trying to access domestic violence and abuse support services.	
	Regional and national commissioners (see above) should work with local commissioners to provide	
	specialist services across local authority boundaries where there is not enough local need to justify	
	setting them up within a particular local authority area. (This could include services to help prevent forced	
	marriages, to help men, or lesbian, gay, bisexual or trans people affected by domestic violence, or for	
	people subjected to 'honour' violence or stalking.)	
	Strategic partnerships should consider publishing a directory of local and national services.	
	Work in partnership to prevent DV;	
	Identify and train key contacts responsible for advising on the safe sharing of domestic violence and abuse-related	
	information;	
	Remove obstacles to people disclosing DV: including displaying information and contact numbers in waiting rooms,	
	in a range of languages and formats including braille and audio versions, and ensure there are private areas for	
	disclosure of DV;	
	Help people who find it difficult to access services.	
NICE	The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidance 2014 includes results of an economic	
Guidance	modelling study of the use of IDVA services. Two key economic benefits associated with reducing domestic	
2014	violence are:	
	1. Quality of life gain from reduced demostic violances and	
	1. Quality of life gain from reduced domestic violence; and	
	2. Cost savings associated with reduced domestic violence	

Overall, the IDVA service intervention was found to be cost saving (that is, it both saves resources and improves
quality of life) compared with no intervention. The overall message is that the cost of domestic violence and abuse
is so significant that even marginally effective interventions are cost effective in achieving cessation in domestic
violence and therefore represent efficient use of public resources. Full details can be found in the economic
analysis of interventions to reduce the incidence and harm of domestic violence and abuse. As well as in
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH50/SupportingEvidence

# REFERENCES

Audit Commission (2009) Sunderland area assessment. London: Audit Commission

Bacchus L, Buller A, Ferrari G, Peters T, Devries K, Sethi G, et al. Occurrence and impact of domestic violence and abuse in gay and bisexual men: A cross sectional survey. International journal of STD & AIDS. 2016:0956462415622886.

Baird (2013) Police & Crime Plan 2013-2018 <u>http://northumbria-</u> pcc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/plans/pcp/Police&CrimePlan2013-2018.pdf [accessed 17 June 2013]

Bradshaw, J. (1972) 'The concept of social need', New Society, 19(496), 640-643.

British Medical Association (2011) *Female genital mutilation: caring for patients and safeguarding children*. <u>http://bma.org.uk/-</u> /media/Files/PDFs/Practical%20advice%20at%20work/Ethics/femalegenitalmutilation.pdf [accessed 14 December 2012]

Care Quality Commission (2017) http://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-do-our-job/safeguarding-people

Centre for Excellence and Outcomes in Children and Young People's Services (2011) *Family savings calculator.* 

http://www.c4eo.org.uk/costeffectiveness/files/negative\_outcomes\_costing\_tool\_template.xls [accessed 14 April 2013]

Co-ordinated Action Against Domestic Abuse (2012) CAADA insights into domestic abuse 1: A place of greater safety.

http://www.caada.org.uk/commissioners/a place of greater safety.pdf [accessed 20 November 2012]

Courtenay, W. H. (2000) 'Constructions of masculinity and their influence on men's wellbeing: a theory of gender and health', *Soc Sci Med*, 50, 1385-401.

Crime Prosecution Service (2012) Honour based violence and forced marriage. http://www.cps.gov.uk/legal/h\_to\_k/honour\_based\_violence\_and\_forced\_marriage/ [accessed 6 September 2012]

Davies S. Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer, 2014- The Health of the 51%: Women. London: Department of Health. 2014. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/595439/CMO</u> <u>annual\_report\_2014.pdf</u> [accessed 21 September 2017]

Department for Children, Schools and Families (2010) *Working together to safeguard children*. <u>https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/00305-2010DOM-EN.pdf</u> [accessed 10 October 2012]

Department for Communities and Local Government (2010) The English Indices of Deprivation 2010.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/6872/1871524 .xls [accessed 17 January 2013]

Department for Communities and Local Government (2016) 2016/18 Fund for specialist accommodation based support and service reform to meet the Priorities for Domestic Abuse Services.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/565073/2016-18\_Fund\_for\_Refuges\_Specialist\_Accommodation\_Based\_Support.pdf [accessed 20 October 2017]

Department of Health (2000) *No secrets: guidance on developing and implementing multiagency policies and procedures to protect vulnerable adults form abuse.* <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod\_consum\_dh/groups/dh\_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digital</u> <u>asset/dh\_4074540.pdf</u> [accessed 22 October 2012]

Department for Education, Characteristics of children in need, 2015-16. SFR52/2016

Department of Health (2005) *Responding to domestic abuse: a handbook for health professionals.* 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod\_consum\_dh/groups/dh\_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digital asset/dh\_4126619.pdf [accessed 5 March 2013]

Department of Health (2011) Commissioning services for women and children who experience violence or abuse – a guide for health commissioners. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/147352/dh\_12 5938.pdf.pdf [accessed 11 April 2013]

Department of Health (2012) Protecting people promoting health: a public health approach to violence prevention for England.

https://www.wp.dh.gov.uk/publications/files/2012/11/Violence-prevention.pdf [accessed 11 January 2013]

Department of Health (2013) Resources to support information sharing to tackle domestic violence. <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/2013/01/facts-tackle-violence</u> [accessed 14 January 2013]

Donovan, C. (2010) Barriers to Making Referrals of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgendered (LGBT) victim/survivors to the MARAC and recommendations for improvement: a study of IDVAs, MARAC coordinators and PPU detective inspectors within the Northumbria Police force area.

Ellsberg M, Arango DJ, Morton M, Gennari F, Kiplesund S, Contreras M, et al. Prevention of violence against women and girls: what does the evidence say? The Lancet.

2015;385(9977):1555-66. <u>http://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lancet/PIIS0140-</u> 6736(14)61703-7.pdf [accessed 28 September 2017]

Feder, G., Davies, R.A., Baird, K., Dunne, D., Eldridge, S., Griffiths, C., Gregory, A., Howell, A., Johnson, M., Ramsay, J., Rutherford, C. and Sharp, D. (2011) *Identification and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) of women experiencing domestic violence with a primary care training and support programme: a cluster randomised controlled trial.* Lancet 378 (9805): 1788-95

Foreign and Commonwealth Office (2012) Forced marriage. <u>http://www.fco.gov.uk/en/travel-and-living-abroad/when-things-go-wrong/forced-marriage/</u> [accessed 14 December 2012]

Forward (2007) A Statistical Study to Estimate the Prevalence of Female Genital Mutilation in England and Wales. <u>www.forwarduk.org.uk/download/96</u> [accessed 14 December 2012]

Gayle, D., in The Guardian, *Violence against women massively understated statistics* <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/jun/09/violent-against-women-massively-understated-statistics-agency-told</u> [accessed 1 November 2017]

Harne, L. (2004) Supplementary written evidence from Dr Lynne Harne, Centre for Gender and Violence Research, School for Policy Studies, University of Bristol (FC 56) <u>http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmjust/518/518we05.htm</u> [accessed 17 December 2013]

HM Government (1998) *Crime and disorder act 1998*. <u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents</u> [accessed 5 October 2012]

HM Government (2010a) *Call to end violence against women and girls*. London: Home Office

HM Government (2010b) *Equality Act 2010*. London: The Stationery Office HM Government (2011a) *Call to end violence against women and girls (VAWG): Action plan progress review*. London: Home Office

HM Government (2011b) *Call to end violence against women and girls (VAWG): Equality impact assessment.* London: Home Office

HM Government (2012) Call to end violence against women and girls: Taking action – the next chapter. London: TSO

HM Government (2015) *Working together to safeguard children.* <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/592101/Working Together to Safeguard Children 20170213.pdf</u> [accessed 30 October 2017]

HM Government (2016) *Ending violence against women and girls Strategy 2016-2020.* London.

Home Office (2004) *Tackling domestic violence: the role of health professionals.* <u>http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110218135832/http://rds.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/pdfs04/dpr32.pdf</u> [accessed 5 March 2013]

Home Office (2012a) Domestic violence. <u>http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/crime/violence-against-women-girls/domestic-violence/</u> [accessed 20 September 2012]

Home Office (2012b) Female genital mutilation.

http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/crime/violence-against-women-girls/female-genital-mutilation/ [accessed 6 September 2012]

Home Office (2013a) This is abuse – new advert launched. <u>http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/media-centre/news/this-is-abuse-advert</u> [accessed 14 March 2013]

Home Office (2013b) Independent domestic violence advisers. <u>http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/crime/violence-against-women-girls/domestic-violence/idva/</u> [accessed 27 February 2013]

Home Office (2016a) Violence Against Women and Girls Services, National Statement of Expectations, December 2016.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/574665/VAW G\_National\_Statement\_of\_Expectations\_-\_FINAL.PDF [accessed 9 October 2017]

Home Office (2016b) Violence Against Women and Girls Services, Supporting Local Commissioning.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/576238/VAW G\_Commissioning\_Toolkit.pdf [accessed 9 October 2017]

Howarth, E. et al (2009) Safety in numbers: a multi-site evaluation of independent domestic violence advisor services.

http://www.henrysmithcharity.org.uk/documents/SafetyinNumbersFullReportNov09.pdf [accessed 12 April 2013]

HSCIC (2016) Health and Social Care Information Centre. Female Genital Mutilation (FGM): April 2015- March 2016

Iranian and Kurdish Women's Rights Organisation (2011) Nearly 3000 cases of 'honour' violence every year in the UK. <u>http://ikwro.org.uk/2011/12/03/nearly-3000-cases-of-honour-violence-every-year-in-the-uk/</u> [accessed 14 December 2012]

Jahanfar, S., Janssen, P.A., Howard, L.M. and Dowswell, T. (2013). *Interventions for preventing or reducing domestic violence against pregnant women*. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, CD009414

Kings Fund (2012) Healthy behaviours. <u>http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/time-to-think-differently/trends/healthy-behaviours</u> [accessed 16 April 2013]

Lancaster, H. (2012) Responsive services and customer care scrutiny panel. Policy review 2012/13: definition of domestic violence – scope.

Lancaster, H. (2013) Responsive services and customer care scrutiny panel. Policy review 2012/13: domestic violence – Lake House.

Lord Laming (2009) *The protection of children in England: a progress report.* <u>https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/HC-330.pdf</u> [accessed 10 October 2012]

The National Archives (2010) Violence against women and girls ready reckoner. <u>http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100104215220/http:/crimereduction.homeoffice.</u> <u>gov.uk/domesticviolence/domesticviolence072.htm</u> [accessed 5 February 2013]

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2010) Pregnancy and complex social factors: a model for service provision for pregnant women with complex social factors <a href="https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG110/chapter/1-Guidance#pregnant-women-who-experience-domestic-abuse">https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG110/chapter/1-Guidance#pregnant-women-who-experience-domestic-abuse</a> [accessed 30 October 2017]

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2013) Preventing and reducing domestic violence. <u>http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PHG/44</u> [accessed 3 March 2013]

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2016) Domestic violence and abuse overview

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/576238/VAW G\_Commissioning\_Toolkit.pdf [accessed 9 October 2017]

North East Public Health Observatory (2013) Community mental health profiles 2013: Sunderland. <u>http://www.nepho.org.uk/cmhp/index.php?pdf=E08000024</u> [accessed 25 February 2013]

NHS Management Executive (1991) *Assessing health care needs: a DHA discussion paper*. London: NHS Management Executive

NHS South of Tyne and Wear (2010) *Mental and emotional health and well-being needs* assessment of the LGBT (lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender) populations of NHS South of Tyne and Wear: Gateshead, South Tyneside and Sunderland.

Nomis Official Labour Market Statistics (2013) KS201EW: Ethnic Group. http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/608.1/wizard.aspx [accessed 21 February 2013]

North East Public Health Observatory (2013) Community mental health profiles 2013: Sunderland. <u>http://www.nepho.org.uk/cmhp/index.php?pdf=E08000024</u> [accessed 12 April 2013] Northumbria Police (2012) Are you always walking on eggshells? <u>http://www.northumbria.police.uk/news\_and\_events/news/newsindex/details.asp?id=68200</u> [accessed 21 February 2013]

Northumbria Police, Police DV information, April 2017.

O'Brien, R., Hunt, K. & Hart, G. (2005) 'It's caveman stuff, but that is to a certain extent how guys still operate: men's accounts of masculinity and help seeking', *Soc Sci Med*, 61, 503-16.

Office for Disability Issues (2012) Disability prevalence estimates 2010/11. <u>http://odi.dwp.gov.uk/docs/res/factsheets/disability-prevalence.pdf</u> [accessed 14 January 2013]

Office for National Statistics (2016) Intimate personal violence and partner abuse https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/compendium/focus onviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/yearendingmarch2015/chapter4intimatepersonalviolencea ndpartnerabuse

Office for National Statistics (2010) Mid-2008 Population Estimates: England and Wales; estimated resident population by single year of age and sex. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/2008/mid-year-population-estimates-2008.zip</u> [accessed 10 April 2013]

Office for National Statistics (2011) Mid-2010 Population Estimates: Selected age groups for health areas in the United Kingdom; estimated resident population. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2010-population-estimates/rft---mid-2010-population-estimates.zip [accessed 14 January 2013]</u>

Office for National Statistics (2012a) Crime statistics: Annual trend and demographic tables 2011-12 - Crime in England and Wales, Quarterly First Release to March 2012. http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/crime-stats/crime-statistics/period-ending-march-2012/rft-annual-trend-and-demographic-tables-2011-12.xls [accessed 14 December 2012]

Office for National Statistics (2012b) Crime survey for England and Wales. <u>http://www.crimesurvey.co.uk/</u> [accessed 13 December 2012]

Office for National Statistics (2012c) User guide to crime statistics for England and Wales. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/method-quality/specific/crime-statistics-methodology/user-guide-to-crime-statistics.pdf</u> [accessed 17 December 2012]

Office for National Statistics (2012d) 2011 Census: population and household estimates for England and Wales. Table P04: Usual resident population by five-year age group, local authorities in England and Wales. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-</u>

<u>census/population-and-household-estimates-for-england-and-wales/rft-p04.xls</u> [accessed 13 December 2012]

Office for National Statistics (2012e) 2011 Census: QS211EW Ethnic group (detailed), local authorities in England and Wales. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census/key-statistics-and-quick-statistics-for-wards-and-output-areas-in-england-and-wales/rft---gs211ew-wm.xls</u> [accessed 21 February 2013]

Office for National Statistics (2012f) 2011 Census: Population and household estimates for England and Wales. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census/population-and-household-estimates-for-england-and-wales/rft-p01.xls</u> [accessed 18 December 2012]

Office for National Statistics (2013a) Super output areas (SOAs). <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/geography/beginner-s-guide/census/super-output-areas--soas-/index.html</u> [accessed 18 January 2013]

Office for National Statistics (2013b) 2011 Census: QS103EW Age by single year, local authorities in England and Wales. <u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census/key-statistics-and-quick-statistics-for-wards-and-output-areas-in-england-and-wales/rft-gs103ew.xls</u> [accessed 3 March 2013]

Office for National Statistics (2016a) Crime survey for England and Wales. <u>http://www.crimesurvey.co.uk/</u> [accessed 15 May 2017]

Office for National Statistics (2016b) Mid-year population estimates

Office for National Statistics (2016c) Crime Survey for England and Wales, <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/crimeinen</u> <u>glandandwalesannualtrendanddemographictables</u> Table D8 [accessed 25 May 2017]

Office for National Statistics (2016d) Crime Survey for England and Wales, Prevalence of intimate violence among adults aged 16 to 59, by category, year ending March 2017, CSEW, available at:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/crimeinen glandandwalesannualsupplementarytables [last accessed 18 September 2017].

Office for National Statistics (2016e) Domestic abuse in England and Wales: year ending March 2016

https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/domesticabuseinenglandandwalesyearendingmarch2016 [last accessed 30 October 2017]

Office for National Statistics (2017a) Mid-year population estimates

Ofsted (2012) Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children services: Sunderland. http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/filedownloading/?file=documents/local\_authority\_reports/sunderlan d/051\_Safeguarding%20and%20looked%20after%20children%20inspection%20as%20pdf.p df&refer=1 [accessed 27 February 2013] PEER Research Team (2013) Exploring the lives of sex workers in Tyne and Wear.

Pencheon, D. *et al* (2006) *Oxford handbook of public health practice*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press

Penhale B., Porritt J. (2010). Intimate partner violence and older women in Europe: UK national report. Sheffield, UK: University of Sheffield.

Public Health England (2016) Sunderland Health Profile 2016, <u>http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e08000024.pdf</u>, [accessed 23 May 2017]

Public Health England (2017) Public Health Outcomes Framework Data Tool. https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ [accessed 18 May 2017]

Public Health England (2017a) Rate of domestic abuse-related incidents and crimes recorded by the police <a href="https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/domestic#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/102/are/E08000024/iid/92863/age/164/sex/4">https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/domestic#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/102/are/E08000024/iid/92863/age/164/sex/4</a> [accessed 23 November 2017]

Renzetti, C.M. (2009) Economic stress and domestic violence. <u>http://new.vawnet.org/assoc\_files\_vawnet/ar\_economicstress.pdf</u> [accessed 17 January 2013]

SafeLives (formerly CAADA) Research Report *In plain sight: The evidence from children exposed to domestic abuse:* February 2014

SafeLives (2015) Practice briefing for IDVAs. Engaging and working with lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) clients.

SafeLives (2015) Getting it Right First Time.

SafeLives (2016) A Cry for Health. Why we must invest in domestic abuse services in hospitals.

Safer Sunderland Partnership (2013) Safer Sunderland Partnership Delivery Plan 2013-14

Safer Sunderland Partnership (2017) Induction Pack 2017-18

Smith, J. Domestic abuse and considerations around the impact on protected characteristics

Smith, K. *et al* (2011) *Homicides, firearm offences and intimate violence 2009/10.* London: Home Office Statistical Bulletin.

Smith, K. *et al* (2012) *Homicides, firearm offences and intimate violence 2010/11.* London: Home Office Statistical Bulletin.

South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust (2010) Domestic abuse policy

Stevens, A. and Rafferty, J. (1994) *Health Care Needs Assessment: The Epidemiologically Based Needs Assessment Reviews, Vol. 1.* Oxford: Radcliffe Medical Press

Sunderland Children's Trust (2010) *The children and young people's plan: three year delivery plan 2010-2013*. <u>http://www.sunderlandchildrenstrust.org.uk/content/cypp-delivery-plan2010-13.pdf</u> [accessed 9 October 2012]

Sunderland City Council (2012b) *Sunderland's joint health and wellbeing strategy.* [Unpublished]

Sunderland City Council (2013) Sunderland Domestic Violence Health Needs Assessment, June 2013.

Sunderland City Council (2015) Domestic Violence Position Statement, May 2015.

Sunderland City Council (2016a) *Corporate plan 2016-2020.* http://www.sunderland.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=18711&p=0&fsize=3Mb&ftype=Corpor ate Plan 2016-2020.PDF [accessed 18 September 2012]

Sunderland City Council (2017) The Partnership Structure, available

at: <u>http://www.sunderland.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=3326</u> [last accessed 18<sup>th</sup> September 2017].

Sunderland City Council & Sunderland Teaching Primary Care Trust (2011a) *Joint strategic* needs assessment: crime and community safety. http://www.sunderlandpartnership.org.uk/documents/Crimeandperceptionofsafety09012012 000.doc [accessed 9 October 2012]

Sunderland City Council & Sunderland Teaching Primary Care Trust (2011b) *Joint strategic needs* assessment: safeguarding (children & young people). <u>http://www.sunderlandpartnership.org.uk/documents/SafeguardingChildrenandAdults090120</u> <u>12.doc</u> [accessed 9 October 2012]

Sunderland City Council & Sunderland Teaching Primary Care Trust (2012a) *Joint strategic needs assessment 2012. Data annex. Chapter 2: Social and environmental context.* <u>http://www.sunderlandpartnership.org.uk/healthy.html</u> [currently available internally only; will be available on this link soon]

Sunderland City Council & Sunderland Teaching Primary Care Trust (2012b) *Joint strategic needs assessment 2012. Data annex. Chapter 3: Child health and lifestyle.* <u>http://www.sunderlandpartnership.org.uk/healthy.html</u> [currently available internally only; will be available on this link soon]

Sunderland City Council & Sunderland Teaching Primary Care Trust (2012c) *Joint strategic needs assessment 2012. Data annex. Chapter 4: Life expectancy and mortality and ill health from all causes.* <u>http://www.sunderlandpartnership.org.uk/healthy.html</u> [currently available internally only; will be available on this link soon]

Sunderland City Council & Sunderland Teaching Primary Care Trust (2012d) *Joint strategic needs assessment 2012. Data annex. Chapter 8: Adult lifestyle behaviours.* <u>http://www.sunderlandpartnership.org.uk/healthy.html</u> [currently available internally only; will be available on this link soon]

Sunderland City Council (2016) *Joint strategic needs assessment 2016. Data annex. Life expectancy.* [currently available internally only; will be available on this link soon]

Sunderland Partnership (2008) *Safer Sunderland Strategy 2008-2023*. <u>http://www.sunderland.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3808&p=0</u> [accessed 5 October 2012]

Sunderland Safeguarding Adults Board (2013) <u>http://www.alertabuse.org.uk/documents/staff%20info%20leaflet.pdf</u> [accessed 3 January 2013]

Sunderland Safeguarding Children's Board (2011) *Sunderland safeguarding children board business plan April 2011-March 2013.* 

http://www.sunderlandscb.com/user\_controlled\_lcms\_area/uploaded\_files/Business%20Plan %202011-2013.doc [accessed 9 October 2012]

Trevillion, K., Oram, S., Feder, G., Howard, L.M. (2012). *Experiences of domestic violence and mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis*. PLoS ONE 7(12):e51740

UK Border Agency (2012) Forced marriage. <u>http://www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/visas-immigration/partners-families/forced-marriage/</u> [accessed 6 September 2012]

Walby, S. and Allen, J. (2004) Domestic violence, sexual assault and stalking: Findings from the British Crime Survey. <u>http://www.avaproject.org.uk/media/28384/hors276.pdf</u> [accessed 17 January 2013]

Walby, S. (2009) The cost of domestic violence: up-date 2009. <u>http://www.lancs.ac.uk/fass/doc\_library/sociology/Cost\_of\_domestic\_violence\_update.doc</u> [accessed 10 April 2013]

Sylvia Walby, Jude Towers, Brian Francis; Is Violent Crime Increasing or Decreasing? a New Methodology to Measure Repeat Attacks Making Visible the Significance of Gender and Domestic Relations, *The British Journal of Criminology*, Volume 56, Issue 6, 1 November 2016, Pages 1203–1234, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azv131</u>

Warwick-Booth, L. and South, J. (2012) *Sunderland health champions evaluation summary*. Leeds, Centre for Health Promotion Research, Leeds Metropolitan University

Wilkin, D., Hallam, L. and Doggett, M. (1992) *Measures of need and outcome for primary health care*. Oxford: Oxford University Press

Witkin, B. R. and Altschuld, J. W. (1995) *Planning and Conducting Needs Assessments*. Thousand Oaks: Sage

Wood, S., Bellis, M.A. and Watts, C. (2010) Intimate partner violence: a review of evidence for prevention from the UK focal point for violence and injury prevention. <u>http://www.cph.org.uk/showPublication.aspx?pubid=671</u> [accessed 5 March 2013]